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£232.1m

Turnover (£194 4m) +19%

£29./m

Profit before tax (£20 6m) +44%

37.9p

Earnings per
share (24 8p) +53%




About DTZ

The world of real estate is becoming increasingly diverse, both

in the scope of services offered and the impact of global markets.

As a leading global property adviser, DTZ is embracing this
opportunity through its people and their unigue skills, for the
benefit of clients and sharehaolders.

DTZ operates across 40 countries advising multi national
companies, major financial institutions, governments, developers
and investors across the world on maximising the potential of
their property as both an investment asset class and an occupier

provision in offices, industrial, retail, leisure and residential sectors,

Surveyors, economists, financiers, accountants, researchers,
linguists, planners and marketeers go to make up the 10,000

people who represent DTZ and operate from key central business

districts across the globe.

Our business hnes

The DTZ business i1s organised
in five key business lines:

its Caprtal Markets actiity
encompasses

Investment management
Managing portfolios on behalf of clients
eg pension funds

Investment agency
Buying and selling properties on behalf
of clients

Corporate finance
Adwsing on capital raising and real estate
finance and indirect vehicles

lts Valuation teams conduct valuaton for
company accounts, due diligence, loan
secunty, mergers and acquisitons and
statutory valuation for compulsory
purchase and local taxation
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Occupational and Development
Markets actvity mcludes leasing,
landlord and tenant acvice, advising
on development projects and acquinng
and disposing of new space for major
corporate clients

The Professional Services teams
manage portfolios on behalf of landlords
and large occupiers and provide general
bulding consultancy advice and project
management

Consulting & Research provides
economic and property market analysis,
integrated development and nvestment,
and corporate consultancy serices,
proviching a full assessment of worldwide
nsk and the defvery of opportuniies for
organisations and business wordwde

Contnbution to Group turnover

Graph removed
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Our Business

Company and structure

Graph removed

DTZ Holdings Plc 1s the largest legal
entity n the DTZ system, and controls
the DTZ brand It has controlling interests
In 21 countries through its subsidianes
and has equity of up to 50% in a further
nine countnes through its associate and
jont venture companies It also licences
the brand in a further 10 countres

The Company I1s headquartered in
London and listed on the London
Stock Exchange

It 1Is managed by a board compnsing six
executive drectors, four non-executive
drrectors and a non-executive Chairman

The business 1s run on a three way
matrix of geography, skills and clients -
al supported by a comprehensive
Group infrastructure — designed to gve
maximum service delivery to clients
Following DTZ's acquisition of a 50%
interest n Rockwood Realty in North
Amenca in May 2008, operations are
divicded into three geographical areas —
namely Europe, Middle East and Africa
(EMEA)}, Asia Pacific, and the Amencas
To achieve excellence in service delivery
we have streamlined our business into
five key skill areas

* Capital Markets

* Valuation

+ Occupational & Development Markets
*» Professional Services

* Consufting & Research

Al five skill Ines are charactensed by
highly focused operations and leadership
with an ovemding commitment to the
delvery of quality and service to the chent

The Company’s global coverage
i1s afforded through its network of
over 10,000 people operating out
of 200 offices across 40 countres
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Group objectives and strategy

Our clearty stated aim 1s to be a leading
global real estate adviser renowned for
exceptional chent service

We work with clients to create leading
edge property, nvestment and business
solutions worldwide There are two key
elements to this — providing first class
services o meet our clients’ needs and
delivering them across the locations where
they are required

The Company sees the diversity achieved
across both geography and skills and the
relaticnship driven culture through the
Group as being important to dnving client
service and needs and providing a more
easlly defined spread and secunty of
income The maenty of our mcome comes
from major global institutions, corporates
ard government bodies

Our emphasis 1s on achieving growth
through organic development and careful
acquisitions to enhance our geographic
and skill representation globally, and to
deliver on the following core objectives

s A comprehensve senice coverage
across key global ciies

* Multi regional representation
and integration

* Relationship driven and teamwork
led culture

+ Consistent brand image

= Effactive infrastructure and
remuneration policies

Our mission

To work with clients to
create leading edge
property, INnvestment
and business solutions
worldwide

Our vision

To be a leading global
adviser renowned for
exceptional client service.

Our values

» Integnty
» Teamwork

» Service excellence
» Creativity

» Enjoyment

» Make it happen
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History

2000

Global development Substantial global development and significant equity
nvolvements in North Amenca, South East Asia and Australia, as well as Europe

2004

Continued expansion globally Global growth continues through the opening
of offices n Incha and Bahrain and continued expansion in China

2003

Accelerated practice growth Significant nvestment in corporate finance team
and enhanced equity position In Asset Managernent subsidiary in France to further
European expansion

2000

Global occupier services In the US An aliance 1s formed with The Staubach Company
in the US to provide joint global occupier services

1999

Equity exchange with Asian partners Following an eguity exchange with
Asian partners CY Leung & Co and Edmund Tie & Co, the DTZ brand 1s extended to
Asia and the Holdings company is renamed DTZ Holdings plc

1998

Consohdation in Europe Consolidation in Europe starts wath sigrificant equity
purchases in France, Belgum and Holland

1997

Consuitancy business acquired OTZ acquires Preda plc, a leading UK consultancy
practice majonng N public sector econormic, strategic and comorate advice

1993

Expansion in Europe A European joint venture in 1993 wath Jean Thouard

of France and the Zadelhoff Group in Germany and the Netherlands creates the
DTZ brand In the same year a merger with Bernard Thorpe and Partners completes
national coverage in the UK

1987

Flotation on London Stock Exchange Debenhamn, Tewson & Chinnocks Holdings plc
floats on the London Stock Exchange

1913

London Merger A merger creates Debenham, Tewson & Chinnocks in 1913

1853

Begtnnings i London A second predecessor fim Debenham and Tewson 1s
founded in Cheapside, London

1784
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Beginmngs in Birmingham The Company’s history begins with the founding
of predacessor firm, Cheshire Gibson, In Birmingham, UK
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Our Reach

Europe, Middle East and Afnca

Asia Pacffic

Offices

Europe, Middle East and Ancais DTZ's
longest established marketplace with
significant representation in all the key
central business distncts

Throughout EMEA DTZ has one of the
strongest market presences of any real
estate adviser, deiivermg mulhdisciplinary
services from 94 offices in 27 countnes

Picture removed

Offices

This fast moving dynamic region has
been a major dnver of world growth over
the past decade and our representation
mirrors this growth wath coverage from
38 offices in nine countries employing
6,000 people

Within Asia-Pacific, DTZ 1s a leader in
many of the main markets Australa,

New Zealand, China, Hong Kong, Tawan,
India, Japan, Singapore and South East
Asta all have strong representation

In the fast-growing market of mainland
China, DTZ 15 the largest established
international property adviser

Pictun
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The Amencas

noved

Picture removed

Offices

Recent developments in the US now
allow DTZ to delver a broad range of
services 1IN the Amencas Through our
new arm DTZ Rockwood, established
In May 2008, we now provide capital
markets solutions to clients

This complements our long-standing
allance wth The Staubach Company
which enables us to fully senice the
occupier markets

Through DTZ Rockwood and our
aliance with The Staubach Company
we offer services through 68 offices
across the US, Mexico, Canada

and Brazil
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Integrated Services

Logo removed

Logo removed

Logo removed

Picture removed

Picture removed

Picture removed

Global mandate
from Yahoo!

Enter the dragon

Advising investors
on new Mmarkets

Services used Services used Services used
Capital Markets Capital Markets Caprtal Markets
Valuation Valuation Valuation

Occupational & Development Markets

Occupational & Development Markets

Cceupational & Development Markets

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Consutting & Research

Consulting & Research

Consulting & Research

Internet giant Yahoo! has chosen DTZ's
Global Corporate Services team as its
preferred real estate prowider In three
major global regions

The global DTZ team won all three
instructions to implement and oversee
all transaction management and project
management activities for Yahoo!
throughout Asia Pacific, EMEA (Europe,
Middle East and Afnca) and Latin Amenca
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Cross-country teamwork between
Spain and China resulted in DTZ
being apponted by Sparish company
Eurcchina Investment on an exclusive
basis to advise on the development of
a 1 5 millon sq m Industrial Park in
Ma'anshan, a town 300km west of
Shanghat, China

DTZ 1s advising on the intial studies and
market research, design management,
construction and project management,
marketing and property management of
this colossal project The scheme includes
residential, hotel, office and retail

Rubicon Europe Trust Group, Australia's
first isted property trust dedicated to
European office assets, has excluswvely
retaned DTZ to advise on its debut

into Eurcpe

In its first deal, DTZ adwised the Trust

in its acquisition of a portfolio of Genman
office buldings - two in Frankfurt and
one in Barlin — for €344 milion in
December 2005 DTZ 1s now actively
advising the Trust on its acquisition
strategy throughout Eurcpe under a
long-term agreement

Under this long-term agreement
DTZ prowides investment agency,
due diligence (including research,
valuation, bulding consultancy) and
property and asset management
servicas to Rubicon
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Logo removed
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Record breaking

Dominant force

LLuxury resorts

French sale in retail expand in Mexico
Services used Servces used Services used

Capital Markets Capital Markets Capital Markets

Valuation Valuation Valuation

Occupational & Development Markets

Occupational & Development Markets

Occupational & Development Markets

Professional Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Consutting & Research

Consutting & Research

Consutting & Research

DTZ's London and Pans offices, adwised

German open-end real estate fund
KanAm Grund on the sale of five
properties in the heart of Pans for in
the region of €1 1 billion

The sale included some of Pans’s most

prestigious trophy landmarks Crystal

Park (50,000 sq m) — perhaps the most

impressive office bulding in the French
capital, Tour Scor (30,000 sq m) and
Rver Plaza (26,000 sq m}
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Hemes appointed DTZ as tactical
assets manager and property manager
for its £1 2 billon UK retall warehousing
and leisure portfolio

Thus is the largest single retall warehouse

asset management instruction that
DTZ has won to date DTZ addiionally
provides advice on Investment agency,

retall and leisure leasing and rent reviews

DTZ has partial discretionary powers
and 18 supervised through an Audit
and Approval Committes

A cross-Atlantic team invoming

Spain and DT7Z's US allance partrer,
The Staubach Company in Mexico,
resulted in DTZ winning the exclusive
agency instruction of a residential
tounst project of 27,000 sgm In
Playa del Carmen, Mexico

International developer FRC plans to
develop over 160 luxury apartments
in one of the best areas of the
Mexican Canbbean

The development of the condominiums
1s underway, on a site of 2 6 hectares
located a few minutes from the ocean
and the famous Quinta Avenida with
completion forecasted by the summer
of 2007
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Chairman’s Overview

Picture removed

Introduction

DTZ enjoyed a record performance in the
year to 30 Apnl 2006 As well as reporting
on our results, | would kke to highlight three
key themes running through this report
which have been central to our success in
the penod under review and which should
continue to position the Group strongly for
the future

¢ the development of our global platform

* the growing scale and complexity of the
work we undertake

* the wvital iImportance of recruting and
retaining the best people

Results

We are reporting our full year results under
International Financial Reporting Standards
for the first time

Turnover rose 19 3% during the year to
£232 1 millon (2005 £194 4 millon) Profit
before tax was £28 7 million, an increase of
44% on the figure of £20 6 millon In the
year to 30 April 2005

08 DTZ Holdings plc
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These excellent resufts and good progress
across the Group's operations have led
the Board to recommend a 40% increase
in the final dwdend to 7 00 pence

{2005 5 Q0 pence), bnnging a nse of
30% in the total ddend for the year

to 9 75 pence (2005 7 50 pence)

The Board anticipates improving the
balance between intenm and final
dwvidends in future years

Our overall tax rate reduced from 37 8%

to 31 9% due to the improved mix of our
profits and the impact of efficiencies
previously made, although the underying
rate, excluding a profit of £0 8 rmilion on
the sale of part of our interest i Investment
Property Databank Ltd, was 32 8%

Earnings per share increased by 52 8%
to 37 9 pence from 24 8 pence due to
both the growth in profits and the reduced
tax rate

The net cash position at 30 Apnl 2006
was £30 3 milion (2005 £14 0 million),
demonstratng both the cash generative
nature of the business and our strong
working capital management

From left

Mark Struckett

Group Chief Executive
Tm Mehdle-Ross
Chairman

Tim Maynard
Group Finance Dwrector

Strategy

We work with clients to create leading
edge property, Investment and business
solutons worldwide This means we must
provide an increasingly wide and complex
range of services to meet our clients’
neads across the locations where those
senices are required

We have therefore continued to grow and
strengthen our office network around the
world In addihon o the examples shown
below, we also completed the acqusiion
after the year end of a 50% interest in the
US captital markets consultancy, Rockwood
Realty Associates LLC, to create OTZ
Rockwood This will both create a global
capital markets capabilty, and be a
powerful complement to our existing
occupational markets relationship with
The Staubach Company The rationale

for this transaction 1s the massive increase
N capital flows globally, which will be
further enhanced as a resutt of emerging
mvestment markets in China and India

The benefit of the ncreasing strength in
our overseas operations 1s undertined by
the growth in profitability of the businesses
in question, notwithstanding considerable
ongoing investment N our staff and
systems to enhance synergies and
efficencies across the Group
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The nch diversity in the demands of our
clents means that we must continue to
broaden the range of services we offer, and
to ensure that the appropnate mix of these
services IS made avallable to maxmuse the
opportunities avalable to the cllent The
Buying Force inttative launched last year

in association with PruPIM 1s increasingly
valued by clents More recently we have
launched a new property dervatives
service with Tullett Prebon, and a
secondary trading platform for unlisted
property funds in association with Morley
and JP Morgan Cazenove We are finding
that the demands of some of our largest
clients for an innovatve range of services,
appropnate to therr own circumstances and
delivered across a very wide geographic
range, create a sohd foundaton for mutually
beneficial long term relationships

Achievements this year
Durng the year, our continuing global
expansion Included

« The acquisiton of a majonty Interest in
our South East Asian business, based
In Singapore As a result, we now have
majonty interests In all the most sigruficant
Agian and European markets except
China and the Netherlands, where we
have significant minonty interests in
market leading businesses

* Expansion in India with the opening of
new offices n New Delhi and Mumbas,
and in China, where new offices were
opened n Wuhan and Xian

¢ The acquisition of Grosvenor Hickey
Tindale Pty Ltd, aleading office agency
in Sydney Australia, and of a new
industnal dvsion in Melbourne

+ Development of our operation n Japan

s Growth in our Middle Eastern business
with the opening of an office in Dcha

¢ The expansion of our business
in Moscow

* Several European nmatves, ncluding
the opening of a new office I
Gothenburg, Sweden

Each of the acquisitions we have made
were immediately earmings enhancing,
which we anticipate will be true of the
investment in DTZ Rockwood made after
the year end
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This growsng global platform coupled with
the expanding range of services we can
offer has enabled us to meet the needs of
an expanding number of blue chip clents,
examples of which are given in the
Business and Financial Review

People

As our business becomes INcreasingly
complex and glaobal, so the demands on
our people become greater Moreover,

It 1s ever more Important that the Group
should be able to ensure the most eflective
service delivery to our cllents To this end,
the new management structure |
mentioned last year has been populated
with key appontments that are already
delvenng value to clients and therefore
to shareholders

These developments have also had a
marked impact on our all-important
recrutment, development and retention
programmes The Business and Financial
Review gives an example of the way we
are meeting this challenge with significant
numbers of new graduates joning DTZ to
s.art therr careers in another country

Excellent results are delivered through
excellent performance and teamwork by
our people, and the Board 1s very grateful
for the commitment and professionalism
of al our staff around the world They
also require Increasing alignment in the
interests of staff and shareholders, and
to this end we will be bnnging forward
proposals at the Annual General Meeting
to introduce a package of equity inked
long term incentives

Eccnomic and property

market conditions

We expect growth in both the US and
China to moderate somewhat over the
next year, but Eurozone growth 1s likely

to accelerate from rather lower levels
Given the lag between economic and
property market recovery, we have still not
seen the full impact on rental growth of the
moare robust economic growth expenenced
earlier in the decade We expect occupier
markets globally to continue their recovery
for some tme  Strength in investment
markets may be affected by interest rate

movements and yield compression IN some

markets However, this is likely to be ofiset
for a broadly based group lke BTZ by

the increasing internationalisation and
sophistication of the market as a whole

Conclusion

Only a small number of real estate adwisers
have global reach, and offer the range and
qualty of services needed by the most
demanding international clients DTZ 15
areacly well placed n this regard The
Board ntends to continue pursuing the i
strategy that | have outined above so |
that DTZ 1s acknowledged as the best in

the business Given the sohd foundations

we have laid, and the significant progress

we have made this year around the world,

the Board 18 confident that the Group

will continue: to perform successiully and

profitably through varying market cycles

In the future The continued strong

performance of our share price shows

that shareholders have confidence in

what we are doing, and we believe this

latest set of results will further justify and

underpin that confidence

B

Tim Melwlle-Ross
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Our Performance

Overview

“We have seen a steady
and strong nse In our
share price, so that in

both 2005 and (1 2006,

we were the best
performing share In the
property sector of the

London Stock Exchange ”
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The past 12 months have seen further
significant steps in our corporate and
practice development while delvening
a very strong set of results

| am pleased to report a significant

nse to record levels In both our turnover
and profitability, wath turnover having
grown 19 3% to £232 1 million

(2005 £194 4 millon) ang profit before
tax having nsen by 44 0% to £29 7 million
(2005 £20 6 millon} Earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA} were £31 9 millon
(2005 £24 ¢ millon} Al these figures
are reported under Internationat Financial
Reporting Standards for the first time for
a full year

Earnings per share increased by 52 8%
to 37 9 pence (2005 24 8 pence)

These results have been dnven by good
performances across the business

The UK increased turnover by 12 2%

and profit before tax rose 13 5% to £24 7

milkion (2005 £21 8 milion) with significantty

stronger performances in Londen, North
of England, Professional Services and
Corporate Finance

Continental Europe put in an extremely
strong performance with a 25 6%
ncrease in turnover and a near trebling
of profits before tax to £7 1 mlion

(2005 £2 6 millon) This covers a broad
spread, with France agan prowding very
high profitabifity, our associate business in
The Netherlands again using its dominant
market posiion to perform very strongly
despite continuing weak conditions,

and our German business returning to
profit, following significant development
of the business over the past few years
The results were achieved despite
significant organic investment in developing
our business in several countries,

such as Russia

We continue to invest In Asia Pacific
Ther resuits take into account some
significant corporate acquisitons through
the year highlighted below and some
substantial orgarkc investment in bulding
the business N countnes such as India
and Japan, while the results reflect only
our share of the profits in our associate
business in China where we have also
been recruiting heavily Accordingly, the
vanous strong performances, including
from South East Asia post acquisition,
were largely offset by our substantal
revenue investment programme
Nonetheless, overall the region produced
a small profit of £217,000, a significant
improvement on the loss of £1 2 milion
In 2004/05, reflecting the benefits of
past investment

At the end of the year, our balance

sheet was very strong with net cash

of £30 3 miton Since the year end,

we have invested £19 6 millon in cash
{$35 million) as part of the consideration
for our Rockwood acquisition m

North Amenca OQur balance shest leaves
us well-placed to continue to develop the
business to enhance further our position
as a leading global real estate adviser

We have seen a steady and strong nse in
our share pnce, so that in both 2005 and
the first quarter of 2006, we were the best
performing share N the property sector on
the London Stock Exchange

Business Development

As the Chairman reported at the half year,
we are incraasingly required to provide our
major iInvestment and corporate clients with
services across the world and we have
continued to develop our business
accordingly This has included

Profit before tax

+44%

£29 7m (£20 6m)
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Europe, Middle East and Afnca (EMEA} Amencas

* Acquinng the remaining minonty interest
in our ltahan subsidiary

* Establisheng representation In Switzerland
= Opening an office In Qatar, bulding on the

success of our Bahrain operation
* Opening an office In Gothenburg

¢ Significantly boosting our capacity in
Moscow through recruitment

Asia Pacific

* [ncreasing our holding to a majonty
interest In our South East Asia business
{(which 1s headquartered in Singapore,
with offices in Thaland, Malaysia and
Indonesia)

s Acquinng the leading Sydney office
agency busingss of Grosvenor Hickey
Tindale Pty Ltd, which we have merged
INto our existing operations I Sydney

* Acquinng an industnal and property
management team in Melboume

» Developrment of our office in Tokyo

= Continued expansion in our Chingse
associate business with the opening
of offices in Wuhan and Xian, bnnging
our mantand Chinese representation
to 11 offices and 4,000 people

* Opened two more Indian offices In
New Dellv and Mumba
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¢ Since the year end, we have announced
the acquisition of a 50% nterest in
Rockwood Realty Associates LLC, now
re-branded DTZ Rockwood, a specialist
in North Amerncan capital markets,
based in New York with exght other
offices in the USA and Mexico
Rockwood handled around $10 billion
of domestic transactons in 2005 and
together there Is substantial scope
for developing international flows
between the Amencas and our existing
operations in EMEA and Agia Pacific
This complements our existing
relationship for occupier services In the
Amencas with The Staubach Company

The continuing development of our
global platform means we are well
placed to benefit from the increasing
globalisation of our market place

Property markets

The past 12 months have seen the global
praperty Investment markets continue to
perform very strongly with an on-going
Increase In the scale and complexity of
transactions, combined with an enhanced

fiow of cross-border real estate investment

The weight of money from traditional and

new sources targeting the sector continued

to dnve yield compression and hence
capital value growth

The global cccupational markets in

busness space are more vaned, with rental

recovery significantly underway In most

areas and particulary In Asia Although this

recovery 1s still to commence in parts of
Europe, the overall direction is generally
upwards Retal markets are patchy, with
consumer expenditure In some countnes
placing pressure on retalers’ margins

The performance of DTZ's
five business skill ines 1s
set out in the following
pages with coresponding
case studies:

* Capital Markets

e \aluation

¢ Occupational and
Development Markets

* Professional Services
» Consuliing & Research
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Capital Markets
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£64.3m
+26%
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Commonwealth Property Fund

DTZ’s investment team 1n Australia
advised Commonweslith Property Fund,
a Colonial First State Property Fund on
the sale of a 50% interest in 60 Margaret
Strest, Sydney for AUS$179 25 million
{£73 mililon) This deal 1s one of several
Australan investment transactions in the
financial year with a combined total of
over AUS$1 bilton clearty demonstrating
the growing profite of DTZ Australia
adwvising on major domestic deals

12 DTZ Holdings plc
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Our capital markets team has enjoyed

a very successful year, with an increase
in volume, scale and complexty of
transactions delivening a 25 9% increase
n revenues to £64 3 milhon We provide
Investment/asset management services
for approxmately £5 5 billon of property
and have advised on over £10 billion of
transactions

The increasing complexity and globalisation
of the marketplace reinforces our desire

to broaden our senices both by skil

and gecgraphy to offer our clients a
comprehensive service while helping

both differentiate the business from some
of our smaller competitors and diversify
our sources of mcome Thus, our caprtal
markets offenng has seen significant
growth In Investment management as

well as the new areas within our corporate
finance team to complement the growth
in traditonal direct investment

The investment management team
contnued its year on year growth with a
12% nse in revenue  in the UK, we were
apponted as discretionary managers to
Safeway Pension Trustees Ltd and as
tactical asset managers for Hermes on
therr £1 2 bilhon retall warehouse portfolio
2005 was the ninth consecutive year we
out-performed the established industry
benchmarks and, in addition, secured an
industry award for the sixth consecutive
year as discreticnary managers for the

top performing large pension fund

We continued to see a very strong
performance in EMEA, pnncipally driven
by France where we manage assets valued
at approximately £1 bililon Highbights
included acqumnng and managing portfolios
in Brussels for JP Morgan Asset
Management and for RREEF in Pans

Qur investment agency teams had a
successful 12 months in therr domestic
marketplaces with notable highlights
ncluding a £235 milion sale and leaseback
transaction in Singapore for DBS Bank Ltd,
a £160 millon sale of 50 Avenue
Montaigne, Pans for Urbail and adwising
Bntish Land on the sale of 10 Fleet Place,
London for £109 mitlon  In China, we saw
the emergence of a core investment market
In key locations such as Shanghat where
we acted for clients including Citigroup and
Morgan Stanley Property Investors

Notwithstanding the strength of domestic
markets, the globalisation of the
marketplace continued with cross-border
transactions reprasenting over 35% of
global nvestment in the six months up
to March 2006 Significant transactions
we have undertaken include the sale of
five properties in Pans for the German
Fund, KanAm Grund for £760 millon
and Boultbee Land’s acquisition of two
shopping centres In Sweaden for

£120 milon

The comporate finance team has seen a
75 3% growth in revenues to £5 0 million
and made substantial gans in terms of
client development, market positioring
and capital raising, working in conunction
with our country teams Therr pipeling of
further work 1s particularly encouragng

In conyunction with the wider capital
markets teams, they have also worked
with clients to innovate and develop new
products  An exampie 1s our targeting

of the indirect investment marketplace
where a highlight has been advising on
Equitable Life's recent sale of £435 million
of Unit Trust units to Ligusd Realty,
believed to be the largest secondary
trade conducted in EMEA

The innovation and expansion 1n our
capital markets offering 1s set to continue,
with our establishment of an innovative
secondary trading platform with Morey
Fund Management and JP Morgan
Cazenove and our tie-up with Tullett
Prebon in the property denvatives market

Qur geographical platform has been
considerably enhanced since the year
end by our new North Amencan business
Through DTZ Rockwood, we are now
better able to capitalise upon the US
cross-border investment actwity and
capital-raising opportunities as well as
offenng direct access to this huge

market We are already seeing

exciing opportunities emerge
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Valuation

v o b - - Pt -
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Turnover

£43.2m
+26%

Forth Ports

A comprehensive DTZ team from across
the Group has undertaken a strategic
review and valuabon of Forth Ports” UK
land bank The 400 acres of land covers
the Edinburgh waterfront and exght
operational port assets at Tilbury and in
Scotland Through this work OTZ has built
a strong relationship with Forth Ports and
has heen retained to prepare annual Red
Bock valuations for the company

Picture removed
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Cur valuation teams continue to deliver
a strong performance, increasing therr
revenues by 26 3% to £43 2 milion
The dnvers of the increase are the
continued strong trading in the capital
markets, alied to our teams winning
an increased share of large, complex,
cross-border valuation assignments,
as well as the increase in dermand for
valuations In various countnes following
regulatory changes

As a consequence, we have bullt our
teams across EMEA, consolidating our
market-leading positions in Belgium,
Sweden, The Netherlands and the UK
This has resuited in a particularly pleasing
growth in valuahon senrvices in continental
Europe, where our turnover has increased
by almost 40%, both through domestic
and cross-border work Examples include
the refinancing of the London and Regional
Scandinawian portfolio and pan European
work for Orco As markets In EMEA
become increasingly transparent and
better regulated for the overseas nvestor,
we anticipate the growth 1n our EMEA
valuation business will continue

There has also been significant
developrment in Asia Pacific For example,
within mainland China, we are the only
intermational company with a Grade A
valuation licence, while we have grown our
Australian valuation teams to complement
our market leading operations in New
Zedand Sgnificant projects include
undertaking the due dhigence for a Chinese
bark of more than 1,000 properties in
mainland China with a value In excess of
£800 miion and the valuaton of a portfolio
of properties spread across Vietnam and
the Phulippines for a Singapore based client

Dunng the year, we have continued to
grow our corporate sector valuation work
in support of mergers and acquisitions,
often working alongside our corporate
finance team This area requires a
complexity of advice few are able to

offer An exampile of this serice was

the valuation of the GSW porticlio of
54,000 residential’unts in Germany

The valuation teams’ revenues continue
to be underpinned by a solid foundation
of annual portfolio valuation work with
clients including UBS, Standard Lie and
Crtadel In additon, we have continued
to grow our corporate recovery team
which saw an enhanced level of actity
dunng the year as a result of lenders
taking a more active approach
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Occupational and Development Markets
banclerd  zrsu Devoloptr en Asency

Tumover

£70.8m
+20%

Picture removed

Dubai Intemational Propertes

DTZ was appointed by Dubal International
Properties as sole marketing and leasing
agents in respect of Dubal Tower in Doha

Scanng impressively over the Doha
skyline the iconic Dubarl Towers will

be the tallest tower in Qatar standing
406m tall (83 storeys) DTZ has been
apponted as the sole agents In leasing
the retall, office and apartment elements
of the development

Due for completion in 2008, Dubal Towers
will comprise 2 53 million sq ft
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The cccupational and development market
teams have seen a 19 8% increase In
revenues to £70 8 milion Over the years,
we have mamntained our commitment to our
occupier agency teams in key centres and
emerging markets and are benefiting from
the recovery in some leasing markets

In the office sector, many markets are
characterised by a shortage of quahity stock
generating pressure for new development
However, we are also seeing the contnuing
impact of off-shonng, switching demand
from some of the more mature markets

to the developing world In the year, we
strengthened our market posttion in Sydney
through the acquistion and integration of
Grosvenor Hickey Tindale and saw the
beneficial impact of the acquisition of
Hodnett Martin Smith in London, which
took place at the end of 2004/05 The
integration of these teams has prowded an
enhanced deal flow and vader cross-seling
opportunities to other parts of the Group

in these high value marketplaces Notable
office leasing highlights include the feasing
of 117,300 sq ft at 252 George Strest,
Sydney to Suncormp Metway, advising Fortis
Bank on the acquisition of 220,000 sq #

In Amsterdam and secunng AMEX as a
tenant in Belgrave House at 131,000 sq ft,
one of the largest lettngs in London so far
this year Within India, our Bangalore office
sealed one of the largest acquisition deals
in Southern India when we advised KLA
Tencor on the acquisiion of a 140,000 sq ft
facility n Chennar

The industnal and warehousing sector in
the UK continues to see demand driven

by food retallers as they consolidate supply
chans Elsewhere in EMEA, the demand

1s less polansed, particularty in Central &
Eastern Europe where economic growih

1s drving strong demand from a wide range
of manufacturers Dunng the year, we have
seen an Increase In our pan-EMEA clent
base and have continued to work with
clents such as Slough Estates and DHL

as they expand therr EMEA operations

In the retall sector, occuper demand
remans stable, albeit we have seen a
nse in the number of retallers sufferng
difficulties as ther margins come under
increasing pressure Demand continues
to be dnven by retalers with large unit
requirements and although rents remain
sold, we are seeing an Increase In the
underiying Incentive packages in some
areas A notable highlight In Asia Pacfic
has been our retall team advising on a
700,000 sq ft mixed use retall scheme in
Central Jakanta

The past year has also witnessed a
continuation in the trend of corporates
seeking to maximise, increasingly on a
pan-regional basis, the benefits and cost
efficiencies from their property holdings
For example, we have been appointed by
Yahoo! as its preferred corporate real estate
provider In EMEA, Asia Pacific and Latin
Amenca and instructed to undertake a
review of the bulding and facilites of the
Eurcpean portfolio of Amadeus [T Group
SA, together with some premises n Asia

In the UK, the re-emergence of rental
growth i certan markets has helped

our landlord and tenant teams grow

therr revenues with a greater number

of rent reviews being conducted
Highights included being apponted by
the Grosvenor Estate as sole professionat
adwiser to therr entrre London estate

After a slow start in the second half of
2005 in the UK, the residential sector saw
a return to growth In 2006 Demand
remans good in London and the South
East although there are signs of oversupply
in certain regional cities Overseas
investors continue to target the sector
and housebuilders remamn active Our
agency teams have performed well and
we have handled a number of large land
sales A highlight was the purchase of a
site in Oakington for English Partnerships
where we have been retaned as sole
adwisor for a new town of over 10,000
homes Outside of the UK, a highlight was
the sale of 430 residential units in The Sall,
Manna Bay in Singapore
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Professional Serices
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Tumover

£37.1m
+13%

Mtfar Holdings Pty Ltd

DTZ was appointed by Mfar Holdings Pvt
Ltd to project manage the development
of a new 350,000 sq ft office campus,
which will be occupied by Philips
Software Centre

Mtar Manyata Technology Park is located
on the outskirts of Bangalore with a
potential development of 700,000 sqg ft

in four phases DTZ’s role involves the
praject management of phases twe and
three, totaling 350,000 sq ft to be ready
for fit out later this year

Picture removed
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In the year, professional serices Income
rose by 12 9% to £37 1 millon

The property and facilites management
team accounted for £23 3 milion of
revenue, up from £20 7 milion in 2005
The year saw the business continue o
expand and in EMEA alcne, we now
manage In excess of 6,400 properties with
over 18,000 tenancies and are responsible
for the callection of rents from properties
with a value 1n excess of £1 1 billon per
annum  Qur commitment and investment
In our teams has seen an INcrease In
capabilities across EMEA and within Asia
Pacific - in mainland China, we are the
market leaders, with over 400 million sq ft
under our management

Consistent with the theme of enhanced
cross-border investment, we are seeing
more ¢cross border management mandates,
such as from Rubicon, which mnvolves
teams from our German and Butch offices

The trend from corporates to outsource
the management of ther portfolios has
continued over the year and we have
secured instructions 1o act as sole adwviser
to Bureau Vertas and extended our
refationship wath Pfizer across EMEA

and Asta Pacific

Our facilities management teams continue
to help us differentiate our property
management service and deliver a
customer-focused service to our occupiers
We continue to invest and innovate in this
area and to work closely with Buying Force
{our jont venture with the Prudential), in
respect of supplier procurement After a
penod of mvestment In the start-up of the
business, Buying Force reached a near
break-aven positon for the year and we are
confident about prospects for the company
nto the future

The recurnng nature of such managerment
income, due mainly to fixed term contracts,
provides on-going protection aganst the
cyclcal nature of some of our markets and
offers cross-selling opportunities to other
parts of the Group

Qur bulding consuttancy team has
continued to expand and we have
strengthened our presence particularty

in EMEA by expanding our teams in Span,
Germany and France and introducing the
capabilty into Poland The expansion has
been drnven by an enhanced flow of tenant
fit-out, project management work and
pre-purchase due diligence surveys

This 1s In evidence throughout the world
where there has been substantial demand
for due diigence surveys, warking on

tight delivery tmetables, in support of
tnvestment transactions

In Asia Pacific, our bullding consultancy
team has expanded and, within India,
there has been a very significant

demand for project management services
An example s McAfee appointing us to
manage therr relocation and fit-out of a
new 120,000 sq ft office in Bangalore
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Consulting & Research

Feonomic Jeveonmict nwsstrent and Coarncrale Sorsutar oy anvt Pessarch

Turmover

£16.7/m
-3%

Picture removed

Prrelh & Co. Real Estate

Pirell & Co Real Estate (Prrell RE),

the largest ltalan real estate asset
manager, appointed DTZ as its preferred
adwser to assist with the expansion and
consolidation of its asset management
operations in Central & Eastern Europe,
Germany, Ukraine and Turkey

DTZ provides investment strategy

acvice and recommendations on potential
joint venture and corporate acquisition
opportuniies  Strategy will be based

on the analysis of the property markets

In 12 different locations and will include
the assessment of both the commercial
and residential sectors
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At the half year we reported that

turnover had reduced compared to the
corresponding penod in 2004/05, due to
both the reconfiguration of our cansultancy
services and a drop in public sector work
around the General Election in May 2005
| am pleased to report that there are signs
that these 1ssues are easing so that, while
revenues for the year in the UK fell from
£17 2 millon to £16 7 mullion, the second
half saw an improvement on the
correspondng penod of 2004/05, with

a promising pipelne of new instructions

The realignment of the business focused
on bulding further our development,
corporate and mvestment consultancy
teams We have undertaken significant
senior recrutment 1N our corporate
consutting team, which has provided
strategic real estate advice 10 a vanely
of public sector clients including the
Metropolitan Police and large corporates
such as Electrolux and Nestle

Our investor consulting business has
also seen a significant growth in client
base and 1s clesely aligned to our
capital markets business and product
development teams  In addition to
the traditional role of advising on
strategy for direct investment funds,
we are Increasingly advising a number
of clients on ndirect portfolios across
the world

The research team maintains its thought
leadership position in the sector

and continues to prowide suppart

for our market-facing teams

The continued excellence of this service
was demaonstrated by the teamn recemng
an industry award as the leader in
European real estate research

Qutside the UK, the consulting and
research turnover has doubled with
particularly strong performances from
Ireland and Germany, we are building on
these foundations wath further recrutment
In France, Germany and the Middle East
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Corporate i1ssues

} am pleased to report that the changes to
geographical and business line organisation
within our EMEA business which were
announced last year to faciitate the
development of cross-border services

are proving effective

The evolving globa! nature of the Group
also requires on-going investment and
changes in our infrastructure with a
concurrent investment required in
nfrastructure technology and the on-going
extension of common approaches to
practice and nsk management

Our approach to nsk management
gengrally 1s descnbed in more detall

in the Directors’ Report

People

We are committed to being regarded as the
best employer in our industry and our akility
10 attract and retain the best 1s fundamental
to our success

Glchal mobility has become an important
factor n both recrument and retention
whilst also being hugely beneficial to our
corporate development As an example,
the nature of graduate intake has changed
markedly - last year we employed 92
graduates from UK unwversities, including
65 with postgraduate degrees Seventy five
of these were employed in the UK, while
the balance joined us across Europe and
Asia — there are similar trends in university
recrutment globally Over the past few
years, there has also been much greater
interest in relocation opportunites for
existing staff which we are keen to facilitate,
both to assist retention and help cross-
border understanding
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Market Outlook

Business space occupational markets
around the world are generally improving,
and this pattern 1s expected to continue at
diffenng rates across the globe for the
foreseeable future Retall markets are less
consistent and the pressure on consumer
expendrture N some areas may translate to
rents and occupancy Nonetheless, overall
the occupational markets are expected to
be reasonably berign

The longer term outlook for the capital
markets 1s more complex In the short term),
particularly given the strong intermational
flow, the wexght of money 1s expected

to continue to push demand However,
this now appears to be creating some
mismatches in locations or sectors where
rental growth may not ultimately justify
the yields paid, taking into account
changes in mid to long term interest
rates Whils selective, this may lead to
some realignment in these areas, white
the markets reman susceptible to

further interest rate movements and
changes in lquidity Nonetheless, the
greater complexity, dynamism and
internationalisation of the markets 1s
expected to continue, prowding actve
market condiions and we have broadened
our offenng into areas such as indirect
investment and denvatives to benefit from
these changes

While continued attention 1s needed to
maintain a balance n the Group's areas
of actmty with the changing market
structure, overall the global property
industry is expected to provide a
reasonable base for our operations
and the: continuing development of

our business

Strategy

Through our operations and partnerships
in EMEA, Asia Pacific and the Amencas,
we can now serve clients with more than
10,000 staff operating in 200 offices in
40 countnes

It 1s our firm ntention to continue to
develop our poshion as a major global
real estate advisory business and further
buld a reputation for outstanding client
service We have made some significant
stndes dunng the past year and we need
to continue to develop our capabilities

In our tradional and emerging rarkets
and services whilst Investing in the
necessary infrastructure

Finally, | would like to thank all our staff
for producing these results and for their
support as we expand and develop
Ther enthusiasm, dedication and pnde
in the business 1s ewdent In every office
and s fundamental to the on-going
progress the Group 1s making and our
continuINg sUCCess
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Our Financial Position

Introduction

For the year ended 30 Apnl 2005 and
previous financial years the Group prepared
its financial statements under UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Prnciples (UK
GAAP") For the year ended 30 April 2008,
the Group 1s required, along with other
European Union listed companies, to
prepare its consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards {“IFRS")

As this 1s the Group's first full year
statement under IFRS, all of the
comparatve financial Information, together
with a significant number of notes to the
financial statements, have been restated
Detals and explanations of the changes
together with reconcihations of last year's
results were provided to shareholders in
November 2005 However, for information
purposes, we have Included below a
reconciiabon and companson between
our results under IFRS and what they
would have been had we contnued to
report under UK GAAP

As previously highlighted, we changed
our internal reporting lines at the start of
the year such that we are now organised
regionally, operating within five distinct
business ines as set out earlier
Accordingly, all of the mformation included
below and in the financial statements has
been prepared on this basis

Overview

The Group achieved record results for the
year with turnover up 19 3% to £232 1
milion and profits before taxation (*PBT)
up by 44 0% to £29 7 milion, including

a one-off profit of 20 8 millon In respect
of the sale of a fixed asset investment
(see below) These results were achieved
against a backdrop of continued
investment in the business

Turnover

Whilst the investment market has been
well publicised as having been particularly
strong over the last year, we were
extremely pleased with the growth
achieved by a number of other areas

of our business, of which an analysis

1S set out in Table 1

This analysis demonstrates the breadth

of our business and provides confidence
that we can be successful through varying
market cycles in the future
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Costs

Overall costs increased by £31 1 millon

to £208 9 milion, which represented 90 0%
of turnover (2005 91 4%), of which
approximately 35% are variable The largest
cost to the Group 1s staff, which amounted
to £144 2 millon or 62 1% of turnover
(2005 61 1%) This represented a

£25 3 milion increase on the pror year,

of which £14 7 millon was as a result

of new staff joining the Group through
acquisitions and recruitment Other costs
ncreased by £5 8 milion, or 10 4%,

to £62 1 milon or 26 8% of turnover

(2005 29 0%) Of the increase,
approxmately £2 0 millon was atinbutable
to costs inhented through acquistions

such that ongoing costs increased by

only £3 9 milion or 6 8%, despite the
increased investment N infrastructure

Operating Profit

As a result of the above, our
operating profit was £23 2 milion
(2005 £16 7 milion} with margins
mproving to 10 0% (2005 8 6%)

Joint Ventures and Associates

The overall results from our joint ventures
and associates increased from £3 6 millon
to £4 7 million as a resutt of a strong
performance from our business in Holland
and the development of our joint venture
business, Buying Force

Income from other fixed asset Investments
amounted to £1 5 millon which ncludes,
inter-aha, the sale of 50% of our iInterest In
Investment Property Databank Holdings
Limrted (“IPD") at a profit of £0 8 millon and
£0 3 million of Income from our Investment
n Curzon Global Partners After net
financing income of £0 3 millon {2005
Expense — £0 3 miliion), the Group's profit
before taxation increased by 44 0% to a
record £28 7 millon

A segmental profit before taxation analysis
by region is set out in Table 2

Strong profit growth was achieved in all
regions, notwithstanding the increased
nvestment made in the business

Taxation

We continued to drve through efficencies
such that our effective tax rate reduced
from 37 8% to 31 9%, although the
underiying rate, excluding the profit of

£0 8 milion on the sale of shares in IPD,
was 32 8% We have now achieved a
rate which 1s broadly equivalent to our
underhying tax rate

Dividends and earnings per share
Basic earnngs per share increased by

52 8% from 24 8 pence last year to

37 9 pence, or 36 3 pence excluding
one-off tems As a resuit, the Board 1s
recommending a 40 0% Increase In

the final dvidend per ordinary share to

7 00 pence which, together waith the interm
drdend of 2 75 pence per share, provides
shareholders with a total dividend for the
year of 9 75 pence per share, representing
an overall increase for the year of 30 0%
and a dwidend cover of 3 9 times

Corporate actmty

in order to deliver our strategy, the Group
continued to nvest both organically, as set
out earlier, and through acquisitions, of
which a summary Is set out below

Acquisitions

* Edmund Te & Company Holdings Pte
Ltd (*ETCH") On 21 November 2005,
the Group acquired a 51% interest in
ETCH, which operates full service offices
N Singapore, Malaysia, Thaland and
Indonesia, the Group previcusly held
a 5% interest in this region  The inttial
consideration was £1 3 milion in cash
with further payments, depending upon
performance, of up to £1 2 million at the
end of three years

* Grosvenor Hickey Tindale Pty Ltd
{"GHT") On 31 August 2005, the Group
acquired the entire Issued share capital
of GHT, a specialist Sydney agency
practice The inibial consideration was
£1 9 midlion in cash with further payments,
depending upen performance, of up to
£2 7 milion, over a three year penod

Each of the acquisiions was immediately
earnings enhancing
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In addtion, we acquired a further 35%
of the ordinary shares in DTZ lialy for
£20 9 millon increasing our holding to 100%

Since the year end, the Group acquired on
10 May 20086, a 50% nterest in Rockwood
Realty Associates LLC ("Rockwood™) for an
inttiat constderation of US$45 0 million

(£24 2 million) of which 81% was In cash
and 19% in shares A further payment of
US$3 5 million (£1 9 mllion) 1s to be paid

in shares 1f Rockwood achieves EBITDA

in the year to February 2007 of US$13 2
rolkon (£7 1 millkon) In addtion, a further
deferred payment will be paid based on
two times Rockwood's average EBITDA for
the two years ending February 2009, up to
a maxrmum of US$75 milkon (£40 3 mulion)

Pensions

The Group now accounts for pensions
in accordance with I1AS19 which requires
the full defict of post retirement benefits
under defined benefit arangements to
be recogrised in the balance sheet,
whilst any actuanal gains and losses

are recognised directly through equity,
outside the income statement

At 30 Apnl 2006 there was a deficit
{net of tax) held on the balance shest
of £4 1 miflicn (2005 €5 6 million)

Table 1 Turncver

This follows the tnenmial valuaton as at
30 April 2005 which showed a past
service defictt (net of tax) of a similar
amount Following this valuation, the Group
agreed with the trustees of the scheme
to settle this deficit over a 10 year penod
In addition, it was agreed to change the
future accrual rates for exising members
These changes are not expected to
matenally change the Group’s current
funding amounts

Cashflow and borrowings

Net cash at 30 Apnl 2006 was £30 3 million
(2005 £14 0 million), an increase of

£16 3 milllon Free cashflow increased

from £17 2 milion to £19 3 millon as

set out in Table 3

Working capital management continues to
be a key performance measure and our
average outstanding debtor days reduced
agan dunng the year Since the year end
we took out a US$E35 million loan,
repayable over five years, to fund the
acquistion of our interest in Rockwood We
also have committed facities of £20 milion
which, combined with our exssting net cash
balance and expected cashflows for the
year, provides the Group with substantial
resources with which to fund its strategic
ams and enable ¢ to continue to delver
value to shareholders

Shareholder value

As highlighted last year, we measure the
net returns on invested capital (“ROICT)
compared to our cost of capral ("WACC"}
as away of determining Increases in
shareholder value or Economic Value
Added ("EVA" ROIC is defined for this
purpose as our After Tax Operating Profits
as a percentage of Shareholders’ Funds
{after wnting back both goodwill previously
written off to reserves and the pension
deficty and Loans WACC 1s the wexghted
capital cost of our equity and debt

{as calculated by external analysts)

which measure the returns required by
shareholders A companson for the last
three years 15 set out n Table 4

The returns achieved exceeded our cost
of caprtal in each of the years to the extent
that the value provided to shareholders,
or EVA, has grown 7 7% over the last
two years to 9 9% In absolute terms

£9 3 million of EVA was added This
represents almost 50% of our after tax
retums which clearly demonstrates that
our strategy and related investments
conbinue to generate value All new
nvestments are appraised, taking into
account both therr nsks, including costs
of integration, and the appropnate
hurdle rates

2006 2005
EMEA Asia Pacific Total EMEA  Asa Paciic Total Increase
£m £m £m £m £m £m %
Capital Markets 61.7 2.6 64.3 508 03 511 259
Valuation 41.9 1.3 43.2 335 07 342 263
Occupational and
Development Markets 66.3 45 708 583 o8 591 198
Professional Services 349 2.2 37.1 318 10 328 129
Consuting
& Research 16.6 0.1 16.7 17 2 - 172 {32
221.4 10.7 2321 191 6 28 194 4 193
Table 2 Profit by region
EMEA
UK and {ex UK and Asia Comporate
freland tredand) EMEA Pacfic  overheads Total
m E£m £m £m £m &m
2005/06 247 7.1 31.8 0.2 (2.3) 297
2004/05 218 26 244 ] (26 206
Increase (%) 135 166 1 301 - 125 440
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I addition, over the same penod of time,
dndends have increased from 6 50 to

9 75 pence per ordinary share and since

1 May 2003 the share pnce has increased
from 67 5 pence to 6843 0 pence at

30 Apri 2006

A graph showang Total Shareholder Returns
for the five years ended 30 Aprl 2006 as
compared to the FTSE Small Cap Index

15 set out In the Directors” Report

IFRS/UK GAAP Compansons

For comparative and inforrmation purposes,
we have set out In Table 5 our results on
an IFRS and UK GAAP basis

To enable shareholders to understand the
changes that have been made between
UK GAAP and IFRS, a reconciliation of
the Group's profit before taxation is set
out in Table 6

Note The UK GAAP profit before taxation
for the year ended 30 Apnl 2006 has been
prepared based on the accounting policies
in place at 30 Apnl 2005 and takes no
account of any changes that have
subsequently been made

Financral nsk management

The Group has formal financial nsk
management policies which cover those
financial nsks which are considered matenal
to the Group's operations and resutts
These policies and imits are reviewed
annually and to ensure compliance,
appropnate delegated authorties have
been set together with reporting
procedures These policies include

* Foreign currency nsk The Group
publishes its results In sterling but has a
number of overseas busmnesses operating
in foreign currencies  The Group does not
hedge the foresgn exchange nsks ansing
from the translation of overseas business
results into sterling but will, withun mits
agreed by the Board, hedge aganst
committed transaction foreign currency
exposures and the translation exposure
of foreign currency dencminated assets
and labilities
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* Interest rate nsk The Group’s guidelne
15 that no more than 50% of net INterest
rate exposures on debt (net of any
working capital balances) should be at
floating rates At 30 Apnl 2006 the Group
had surplus funds of £30 3 milion net of
borrowings of £1 5 milhon

* Liguichty nsk The Group mantans a debt
to capital ratio that has flexibility to allow
it to meet s strategic objectives
In addition, policies have been set on
appropnate borrowing levels to net cash
reguirements and minimum covenant
levels required of financing sources
The Group's requirements are reviewed
annually, or more often If the need anses,
and at 30 Apnl 2006 the Group, In
addition to the surplus funds referred
to above, had committed facilities of
£20 milhon

Financial systems and controls

A formal nsk management process 15

now embedded within the Group which

15 supported by KPMG LLP who act as
our internal auditors The work undertaken
not only rewiews practice nsks but also
our financial systems and controls Asa
result of this work and our own plans,

we continue to ensure that the appropnate
nfrastructure 1s N place 1o meet not only
the growing needs of the business but
also the increased regulatory environmentt,
at the same tme as managing the
associated nsks

MA D St

Mark Struckett
Group Cheef Executive
4 July 2006

Tim Maynard
Group Finance Cirector
4 Juty 2006
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Table 3 Cash flow
2006 2005
£m Em
Cash flow from operations 303 287
Taxation (7 9) {82
Interest 03 03
Capital expenditure (34} 30
Free cash flow 19.3 172
Drvidends 42 36
Investments (net of proceeds) 04 B4
Financing 0.8 0z
Increase in net funds 163 74
Net funds brought forward 14.0 66
Net funds camed forward 303 140
Table 4 Shareholder value
2006 2005 2004
Peturn on invested capital (%) 199 161 11 47
Weighted average cost of caprtal (%6} 10.0 88 g2
EVA (%) 9.9 73 22
EVA (Em) 9.3 57 16
"Calcutated on a UK GAAP basis
Table 5 IFRS/UK GAAP
2006 2005
IFRS UK GAAP IFRS UK GAAP
£m £m £m £m
Group turnover 2321 2321 194 4 194 4
Group profit before tax 29.7 26.9 206 185
Basic earnings per share 379 32.8p 24 8p 201p
Shareholders” funds 62.5 7141 439 548
Table € Group profit before tax
2006 2005
£m £m
UK GAAP — Profit before taxation 26.9 185
Share based payments {0.1) o1)
Employee benefits (holiday pay) 0.6 02
Tenant inducements 0.5 02
Pensions 01 ©3
Goodwill amortisation 19 25
IFRS — Profit before taxation 29.7 2086
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Our Corporate Responsibility

Corporate social responsibility report

Picture removed

Our influence through chents

The Natonal Assembily for Wales
appointed DTZ to measure the
impact of development on the Welsh
environment and economy DTZ wall
assess the Ikelihood of different types
of property development contnbuting
towards government environmental
targets, such as reducing carben
emISsIons, enargy consumption

and use of natural resources
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Our approach

DTZ recognises, understands and
manages the environmental, social

and economic impacts of its actvties
Tender regurremnents, trends in ethical

and responsible property investment,

and our commitment to attract and retain
the best people mean the way we manage
Corporate Responsibility {CR) and our
ability to buld internal competence in
related ssues, is matenal to our long-tenm
financial performance

Our continued inclusion in the FTSE4Good
index testifies to our success in achieving
many of our CR objectves Our cormrmitment
to continuous Improvement means that we
regularly review and revise our CR policy
and performance

Our values, our business

and our clients

DTZ's purpose Is to work with our clients to
provide leading edge property, nvestment
and business solutions on a wordwide
scale Qur core values of integrty, service
excelence, making it happen, enjoyment,
creatvity and teamwork help guide a strong
delivery-focused culture that encourages
nnovative and coliaborative solutions for
our clients

Our clients are the reason we exst and

we constantly look to offer them the adwice
and skills that will maximise therr returns
from the built environment Our ability to
give chents the best advice relies on being
able to recruit and retain the highest quality
employees Only by dong both can we
ensure that the shareholders who own the
business are farty rewarded

Two of our pnmary types of clents are
those who seek Corporate Occupler
services, which ncludes adwvice on and the
management of, cormmercial and residential
real estate, and those who seek Capital
Market services, which includes adwice on
and the management cf portfolios of real
estate assets To provide unnvalled senices
to our clients, we must understand better
than anyone else the property sector and
the trends affecting it

We recognise that our corporate occupier
chents — many of whom are internationally
recognised brands themselvaes —
increasingly seek guidance on the
environmental and social impacts of the
buldings they occupy In many cases

our clients also seek assurances that

our Corporate Responsibility policies are |
consistent with ther own To win these
clients DTZ has to demonstrate we are a
responsible and trusted business partner

Our Capital Markets chents — which include |
some of the world's largest institutional |
investors — seek guidance on the ink

between social, ervironmental and

economic 1ssues and the financial vahuation

of therr propenty portfolios This 1s often in

relation to changing requlatory requirements

and other market fundamentals We have

provided leading-edge research and advice

on manstream Responsible Property

Investment (RPI}, helping to reduce

nsk and maxmise the return on real

estate investments

Our influence through chents

Our corporate responsibilty pnorties
are dnven by legal obligations, client
requirements, employee expectations
and our own assessment of what s In
the joint Interests of our business and
the communities on which our actvibes
impact This assessment 1s informed
by engagement with extemal and
internal stakeholders

As a minmum requirement, BTZ
complies with the laws, regulations

and rules applicable to its business,

and endeavours to conduct its business
in accordance with established best
practice in its countnes of aperation

DTZ has over 10,000 staff operating from
200 offices In 40 countnes On behalf of
our clients, DTZ manages more than 4,000
properties globally with an estmated capital
value of over £16 bilion We also influence
investment decisions invoiving many biflons
of pounds of mvestment In real estate

So, while we understand the importance

of managing our own operations in a
respongble manner, we believe our largest
footpnnt relates to the decisions that our
chents take based on our advice
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As a result, a prionty 1s to help our clients
understand and address their own
corporate responsibiity-related 1ssues
including the impact that corporate
responsbility 1Issues have on the value

of therr real estate portiolio

Responsibilites and accountabilities
The Board as a whole is responsible for
ensunng compltance with DTZ’s corporate
values and its Corporate Responsibility
policy This includes an Environmental
Policy, a Health & Safety Policy and a
broad range of Human Resources Policies
These policies are an integral part of
DTZ's culture

The Corporate Responsibility Steenng
Group meets regutarly throughout the
year to consider, monitor and review
environmental, ethical and social iIssues
and associated nsks relevant to the
business The CR Steenng Group is also
responsible for the development of the
Cormpany’s Corporate Responsibility
polcies and procedures

The DTZ Corporate Responsibility
policy provides a unified framework for
addressing CR i1ssues within the Group,
while recogrising each business In
each country operates within its own
unigue context

DTZ seeks to ensure that all employees
are aware of, and abide by, DTZ's
environmental, ethical and social policies
In addition, the directors of our business
units take responsibility for ensuring that
DTZ has the competencies needed to
provide advice on CR-related 1ssues as
they relate to the real estate sector

Health and safety

DTZ considers the mantenance of high
standards of health and safety as critical
to the successful management of a global
business Within the UK alone, DTZ 18
responsible for managing the health and
safety nsks associated with some 600
properties, Including around 50 shopping
centres and a number of construction
projects on behalf of chents as well as
our own corporate offices

23 DTZ Holdings plc
Annual report and accounts 2008

Comprehensive policies and procedures
have significantly reduced nsks and
incidents in both our own operations
and those properties managed on
behalf of clients

Community

The bullt environment has an important
impact on commumity development
DTZ’s Research & Consultancy division
has undertaken economic footprnt
andlyses to help the UK Department

of Trade and Industry understand how
property developments contnbute to
community development We have also
undertaken research and extensive
external consuttations on the future of
the town centre This, and other DTZ
research, helps ensure that our clients
have access to the best advice on the
inkages between property management
and community 1ssUes

DTZ 15 also commitied to taking an
active role in the communites n which
it operates A number of our offices
grve time and resources to support
ther local communities and we
support our employees in taking on
social responsibilities

The DTZ Group makes chantable donations
across the world through local offices

In the UK, OTZ annually selects an
indvidual chanty to benefit from its
fundraising actwvties, after consultation
wath staff This year WellChild, a leading
UK children’s chanty for health and
wellbeing was chosen Our South Afncan
office supports Afncan Mothers, a charnty
working on HV/AIDS In Poland, DTZ 1s
a member of the Polish Foundation for
CSR, a chantable orgarusation focused
on underpnviledged children in Poland

Protecting the environment

As a leading international real estate
adwiser, DTZ has an important role m
rasing awareness on the economic
implications of environmental 1ssues
For instance, t I1s estmated that up
10 40% of global CO, emissions are
atinbutable to the construction and
management of buldings In the
European Union, this has led to the
EU Energy Efficency of Buldings
Directrve, which will have a significant
impact on bulding codes

In partnership with White Young Green,

a leading engmneenng and environmental
consultant, DTZ has also developed

an environmental and sustanability
benchmarking tool for property and we
are using this tool 1o help nvestors assess
the CR-related nsks associated with their

property portfolios

We recognise our business actvities may
have a direct and indrrect impact on the
environment and therefore undertake
these actmities In a manner sensitive to
therr environmental iImpact, seeking to
conserve natural resources, reduce waste
and minimise poliution wherever possible

In the UK, a national procurement
programme ensures all suppliers are
assessed on ther environmental policy,
with emphasis on recycled products
Our energy usage 1s monitored

and benchmarked aganst industry
recognised indices

Worldwide staff are motivated to act in
an environmentally responsible manner
through training and information to keep
awareness high
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Our People

Retention

DTZ 1s a people business — it 1$ the

skills and expertise of our employees

that diferentiate DTZ from its competitors,
so it 1s important our people continue

to find the culture and work motivating
and rewarding

We know that career progression and
total reward are important retention
areas for us to continue 1o develop,
and initiatives include the introduction
of a flexible benefits package n the

UK, a leadership programime, a global
exchange programme and flexible work
style options

DTZ recognises the importance

of supporting lifestyle choices and
understands that different career
stages mean changing pnorties

We try to support these wherever
possible, so that people can grow
with the Company and we can retan
valuable skills and expenence

Global mobility

Flexible benefits

Picture removed

Picture removed
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DTZ continues to grow its global
presence, which brngs increasing
opportunities and business need to
share knowledge and skills across our
operations Global career opportunities
are advertised through a global intranet
service and an increasing number

of people now choose to pursue
intemahonal assignments to achieve
professional and career development

Short-term development tnps, graduate
exchange programmes, secondments
and permanent transfers are supported
with language and cuttural training
Regular centrally run sessions throughout
EMEA and Asia offer learning and
networkang opportunities to help

cross border business building, and

to develop an integrated work culture

Picture removed

DTZ recognises that increasingly
employees look for a remuneration
package that takes account of ther
indmdual crcumstances and changing
needs DTZ has proneered this approach
in the UK where a comprehensive choice
of benefits to cover all areas of working
and personal ife 1s provided to sut
personal needs

Benefits that can be chosen or traded
include holidays, childcare vouchers,

cars and dental insurance In the last

12 months 70% of pecple In the UK took
advantage of the opportunity 10 review
therr benefits package to make choices
to meet therr ndvdual needs
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Learning and development

DTZ believes that personal development
never stops Indwiduals dnve therr own
requirements, supported by therr Ine
manager and comprehensive company
wide e-learning, workshops, coaching
and mentonng

An annual review system that monitors
objectives, performance progress
aganst those objectives, learning and
developrment needs and indwidual career
asprrations, 1s being rolled out across

the DTZ network DTZ also works closely
with leading business schoals, to prowvide
leadership programmes that develop
participants’ leadership, financial and
strategic capabilities to provide the
business with future leaders

In a company with representation in

40 countnes cultural awareness training
15 high on the agenda and improving
language skills 1s actvely supported
throughout the Company

Recruitrment

Picture removed

Picture removed
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DTZ ams to attract the best people

in ther field — those keen to work

on groundbreaking and high profile
assignments, with industry leading
clients and in a collaboratve team
focused environment Surveyors,
accountants, economists, financiers,
researchers, Iinguists and support

staff are all attracted by the career
opportunities of DTZ's strong reputation

As one of the industry's largest recruters
of graduates DTZ attracts highty
motivated and broad skifled tatent
through rts targeting of leading
unversities We offer internships,

work expenence and sandwich
placements across the DTZ world

We value a dverse workforce and
actvely work with professional bedees,
universities and schools to attract talent
into the incustry

Diversity

As a leading global employer in our
Industry, we foster a workplace where
indmduality and diversity are respected,
encouraging everyone who works

for DTZ to develop ther careers n a
stimulatng and supportive environment
in keeping with our values, which include
ntegrity and teamwork

At DTZ, dverstty 1s about achieving
business excellence and competitor
advantage through respecting and
valuing indwvidual differences and
harnessing the advantages these
bring We are commutted to creating
an envronment that 1s based on
mentocracy and inclusnity

Picture removed




Directors and Aavisers

Directors

1T D Mehlle-Ross CBE FCis FCIB

Group Charman

Non-executive {Age 61)

Tim Melville-Ross has been Charman of
the Group since Septemiber 2000, having
previousty been appointed a non-executive
director of the Company on 17 January
2000 He s a member of the Group's
Nomnation Committee He was formerly
Director General of The Institute of Directors
and, before that, the Chief Executive of
Natonwide Bulding Society He s
Charman of Manganese Bronze Heldings
plc, The Council of the University of Essex,
The Royal London Mutual Insurance
Society Limited, Bows Homes Group pic
and a director of Katalyst Ventures Ltd

He retired as Charman of the Superviscry
Board of Bank Insinger De Beaufort NV
and as a director of Equity Trust SARL on
31 December 2005, and as Charman of
Investors In People UK on 31 May 2006

2 M D Struckett ma MBA FRICS

Group Chief Executive {Age 48)

Mark Struckett has been Group Chief
Executive since 1995 He joned
Debenham Tewson & Chinnocks in 1979
He 1s a member of the Group’s Nomination
Committee He 15 a drrector of the
Surveyors Mutual Insurance Association
Limited and was a non-executive direclor
of Tenon Group pic untl the end of 2005
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3 T § Maynard Aca

Group Finance Director {Age 45)

Tim Maynard 1s a chartered accountant,
having joned the Group on 1 May 2002
as Group Finance Director designate
He was apponted to the Board as Group
Finance Director on 9 August 2002
Before joining the Company, he was
Group Finance Director of Old English
Inns plc Prnor to this, he held seruor
finance positions with Hays PLC,
Granada Group plc and Forte plo

4 T J Hodgson FRICS

Executive {Age 57)

Tim Hodgsen has been Group Chief
Cperating Officer since 1 May 2005

His previous roles in the business Include
UK Cheef Operating Officer, Managing
Drrector of the Group s Consultancy
business and Managing Direclor of

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung He joined
the Compgany in 1977

5 R H H Peto ma FricS

Executive {Age 55)

Robert Peto joned the Group n 1971 and
has been Charman of OTZ Debenham Tie
Leung (UK since September 1999, having
earler been Chairman of the Investment
Owision He was Chairman of the RICS
Appraisal and Valuation Standards Board
from 1999 to 2003 and 1s a member of
the Governing Council of the RICS and
the General Advisory Council of the

Bntish Property Federation

6 K B O’Higgins ASCS MRICS MIAVi
Executive (Age 45)

Kilhan O'Higgns jomed the Group on

15 October 2001 He was apponted to
the Board on 9 July 2003 He has been
Managing Crrector for Europe, Middle East
and Afnca including UK since 1 May 2005
and, pnor to that, European Managing
Director of DTZ Internationa! where he was
responsible for DTZ's Eurcpean operational
actvity Prior to joning the Group, Kilban
was Managing Director of OTZ Sherry
FitzGerald, our associate business

n lreland

7 DM Grayca

Executive (Age 54)

Dawvid Gray 1s a chartered accountant
He joined the Group on 1 May 2000 and
has been Charman of DTZ's Consutting
& Research busness since then

He 1s also a non-executve director

of F&C Asset Management PLC and
Romag Holdings plc and a board
member of Scottish Water

8 P J Stone Solicitor

Independent non-executive {Age 60)
Peter Stone was apponted a
non-executve director oi the Company
on 26 Aprl 2001 He was previcusly
Deputy Charman of merchant bank Close
Brothers, where he worked for 23 years
untl 1988 He 1s currently a non-executve
director of Intermediate Capital Group plc
and Opus Trust Group Limited and
Chairrman of Carelorce Group plc

He 1s Charrman of the Remuneraticn
Committeg and a member of the Audit
and Nomination Commitiees

9 L Cullen 8sc (HONS) FCCA FCT MBA
Independent non-executive {Age 54)

Les Cullen was appointed a non-executive
director on 11 September 2003 He was
praviously Group Finance Cirector of

STC plc, De La Rue plc, inchcape plc
and Prudential ple, which he left n 2000
Since then he has been chairman of a
number of private equity backed
companies He s a non-executive director
of Avis Europe pic, Interserve plc and
Sustrans Ltd and a Trustee of the BT
Penston Scheme He chars the Audit
Committees of Avis Eurcpe and the BT
Pengsion Scheme He 1s Charman of the
Group's Audit Committee and a member
of ts Remuneration and Nomination
Committees




10 D Detter

Independent non-executive (Age 46)
Dag Detter was appointed as a
non-executive director on 8 March
2004 He has worked for a number of
compantes including Barclays, Credit
Suisse, Panbas and SEB He has also
worked for the Swedish Government as
the Chief Executive Officer of Stattum,
the State Holding Comparny, and as the
Head of the State Enterpnse Dmsion

at the Ministry of Industry He 1s currently
Managing Director of Detter & Co and
an Industnal Adviser to Capman Plc, a
private equity fund He 1s a member of
the Group's Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees

11 A Lesmiak BSc {HONS) ARCS FCA
Independent non-executve {Age 54)

Alicja Lesniak was appointed as a
non-executive director on 8 March 2004
She was previously a mamn board director
of BBDO Worldwide Inc and Chief
Financial Officer of BBDO EMEA, a leading
marketing serices organisation, previously
holding similar posiions at Ogivy & Mather
Worldwide Inc In May 2006 she was
apponted a non-executive director of
SThree plc She 1s a member of the
Group’s Audit, Remuneration and
Normination Commitiees
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Advisers

Group Company Secretary
P M Cook

Independent auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants

Registrars

Computershare Investor Services plc
PO Box 82

The Paviions

Bndgwater Road

Bristol BS99 7NH

Registered number
2088415

Registered office
One Curzon Street
London W1A SPZ
www dtz com

Financial advisers
Dresdner Kleinwort

Stockbrokers
JP Morgan Cazenove

Pnncipal bankers

The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc

Solicitors
Clifford Chance LLP




Directors’ Report

The directors present ther nineteenth Annual Report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 Apni 2006

Principal activites
DTZ Heldings plc continues to be the holding company of a group of companies acting as natonal and international property advisers
and consuttants worldwide, offenng comprehensive Integrated property advice and economic consultancy senaces to clients

Review of business and future prospects

Turnover
Turmover, denved from the above activiies, increased from £194 4 million to £232 1 million, dunng the year ended 30 Aprl 2006

Group results
The directors report a profit before taxation of £29 7 millon compared with £20 6 milion for the previous year

Equity shareholders' funds at 30 Apnl 2006 amounted to £62 5 milhon {2005 £43 9 rrullion)

Events occumng after the end of the year
Details can be found in note 29 to the accounts

Enhanced business review
A review of the business, future prospects and the prnciple nsks and uncertanties it faces are contaned within the Chairman's overview
on pages 8 and 9 and the Review of our Performance and Fnancial Postion on pages 10 to 21

Didends

A final dvidend, for the year ended 30 April 2005, of 5 00 pence net per ordinary share was paid in September 2005 This, together
with an intenrn dmdend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2006 of 2 75 pence net per ordinary share paid in February 2006, gives a total
dwvidend charged to the results for the year ended 30 Apri 2006 of 7 75 pence net (2005 6 75 pence) A final dvidend for the year
ended 30 Apnl 2006 of 7 00 pence net per ordinary share 1s to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting on 7 September 2006

If approved, this will be payable to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 18 August 2006 This proposal will provide
a total dividend for the year ended 30 Apnt 2006 of 9 75 pence net per ordinary share (2005 7 25 pence)

Directors

The present membership of the Board 1s set out on pages 26 and 27 All directors served throughout the year In accordance with
the Company's Articles of Association, Mr M D Struckett, Mr P J Stone, Mr D Detter and Mrs A Lesniak retire as directors at the
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-slection

None of the directors had any interest in any matenal contract dunng the year relating to the business of the Company
The drectors’ interests, as defined by the Companies Act 1985, in the shares of the Company were

Nor- Non-

e T TR T

Number of ordinary shares of 5 pence each 2005 2006 2005 2006
T D Mehlle-Ross 16,450 16,450 - -
M D Struckett 630,943 630,943 54,500 54,500
T S Maynard 20,000 20,000 - -
T J Hodgson 286,697 271,697 - -
B HH Peto 471,580 471,580 - -
K B O'Higgins 105,253 105,253 - -
D M Gray 8,609 8,609 - -
L Cullen 5,000 5,000 - -
D Detter - - - -
P J Stone 50,000 50,000 - -
A Lesniak 5,000 5,000 - -

The above non-beneficial interests relate to the interests of the directors {or their spouses) as trusteas of trusts established for the
benefit of their respective children or those of other directors or former directors of companies in the Group

As at 30 Apnl 2006, all the above directors are interested in 3,267,591 ordinary shares (2005 3,675,996) held by DT&C LUmited, a
subsidiary of the Company, as trustee of the Company’s Discretionary Employee Benefit Trust, which helds the shares in trust for
Group employees

Between 30 Apnt 2006 and 23 June 2006, this figure has decreased to 3,250,591

In addition, Mr M D Struckett, Mr T J Hodgson, Mr R H H Peto, Mr T S Maynard and Mr K B O'Higgins have been granted options
under the DTZ Holdings plc Deferred Share Scheme Full details are ncluded in the Directors’ Remuneration Report set out on pages
301035
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As at 23 June 2008, the Company had been notrfied of the following interests of 3% or more in the Company's ordinary shares

At 30 April 2006 At 23 Juna 2006
Substantial interests: Shares % Shares %
Groupe CM 9,305,500 17.33 9,910,500 1824
JPMorgan Asset Management 3,368,755 6.28 3,180,845 5.85
DT&C Lmited? 3,267,591 6.09 3,250,591 5.98
Barclays PLC 2,386,270 4.44 2,436,442 4.48
Schroder Investment Management Limited™ 2,295,174 4.27 2,224,567 4.09
Legal & General Investment Management Lirmited 2,098,460 391 2,130,417 .92

{1} Non-disclosabie shareholdng
(2) Trustee of the Compary s Dscretionary Employee Benefit Trust

The Board 1s not aware of any other person who 1s interested in 3% or more of the 1ssued share capital of the Company

Employee involvement

The directors recognise that the key to delivenng consistent high-quality client services lies in the skill, loyalty and motivation of all its
employees It is the policy of the Group that all employees are provided with support, advice, traning and development opportunities to
allow them to actieve ther own potential within the framework of the business

The Group has made and continues to make substantial investment in network information technology Al staff have access to the
intranet and internet, which, as well as delivering iImproved services to clients, has already proved a great success in facilitating internal
communications on important business developments and for shanng information

Employment of disabled persons

The Group has continued its existing policy regarding the employment of disabled persons Full and farr consideration is given to
apphcations for employment made by disabled persons, taking nto account therr parucular aptitudes and abilties and the nature of the
work Involved Appropriate training is avallable for disabled employees, including retraining for alternative work if necessary for those
employees who become disabled, to promote their career development within the Group

AGM special business
This year, the directors are putting forward six items of special business at the AGM These are resolutions 5 to 10 (inclusive) as set out
in the notice of meeting and descnbed In the letter to shareholders accomparnying that notice

Donations
During the year, the Group made donations for chantable purposes of £18,303 (2005 £26,785) No donations were made for political
purposes (2005 ni)

Creditor payment policy

It 1s the Group's nomal policy to pay suppliers within the payment terms of the contract, where these have been agreed in advance, or
within 30 days of the end of the calendar month of supply Sub-contractors, In accordance with therr contract terms, are paid when the
Group 1s paid As at 30 Apnl 2006, creditor days were calculated at 23 days {2005 20 days)

Going concern

The directars are satisfied that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts

Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP have expressed ther willngness to continue In office as auditors and a resolution to re-appoint them will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting

(e MCE

P M Cook

Secretary
4 July 2006
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Remuneration Report

The directors submit ther report on remuneration for the year ended 30 Apnl 2006

This report has been approved and adopted by the Board and has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration
Report Regulations 2002 {'the Regulations’} and the Listing Rules of the Financial Seruces Authonty In accordance with the
Regulattons, the following sections have been subject to audit 3 and 4 The remaning sections are not subject to audit

1 The Remuneration Commuttee {‘the Committee’)

The Board has apponted a Remuneration Committee which considers, for recommendation to the Board, Company policy on
remuneraton and conditions of service, and, within the terms of the agreed policy, approves the compesiion and level of remuneration
of executive directors, the Chairmman of the Company and such other members of the executive management as it 15 designated to
consider The Board has accepted, without amendment, the Committee’s recommendations

The Commuttee members dunng the year compnsed, Mr P J Stone, Mr T D Melville-Ross, Mr L Cullen, Mr Dag Detter and Mrs Alicia
Lesnigk Mr P J Stone served as Charman Since the year end, Mr T O Mehvlle-Ross has resigned from the Committee in line with
Comorate Governance practice Mr M D Struckett, Graup Chief Executive, 1s iInvited to join its meetings, as appropnate

The Group Company Secretary 15 the Secretary to the Committee No director takes part in discussion on therr own remuneration

2 Remuneration policy

In determining an appropnate remuneration policy for recommendation to the Board, the Committee’s objective 1s to ensure that the
Group 1s able to attract and retain high guality professional staff while incentivising exceptional performance Basic salary and benefits
are set at a level having regard to other comparable hsted compantes and those within the professional services sector and are
monitored on a regular basis Remuneration for executive directors and senior executives takes account of the Company’s overall
performance, achevement of corporate abjectives and personal contnbution, through an annual performance related bonus scheme
and, for long-term performance, by the award of shares under the Deferred Share Scheme and Company Share Option Plan
("COSOP)

To assist the Committee in determining remuneration policy, afthough they are not members of the Committee, information and adwice
has been provided and recommendations have bean made by Mr M D Struckett, (other than in respect of his own pasitton) and by
the Managing Director Group Services, Mr T J Gerrard This includes information from internal and independent sources on the
remuneration for comparable postions in Iisted companies and in the professional services sector External advce dunng the year
was received from Hewitt, Bacon & Woodrow Limited who have no other connection to the Group, as appointed by the Commitiee

in addition adwice was receved from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in relation to the changes to the Group’s Long Term Incentve Plan's
referred to in paragraph 3(iv) below

3 Remuneration of executive directors and senior execulives
The remuneration packages for executive directors consist of the following elements

* Salary and benefits,

* Performance related bonus,
* Pension, -

e Long-term mcentve plans,

and are structured to relate reward to both corporate and indmvidual performance Detalls of all payments to executive directors, which
are disclosed in section 4 on page 33, show the relative value of the basic and performance related elements of ther remuneration
The Group's remuneration structure 1s such that in 2005 and 2006 the highest pad employeas within the Group were not directors

of the parent company

The executive directors are incentvised in a similar method to the rest of the Group’s UK based staff, including grants of options over
shares in the Company

i) Salary and benefits

Basic salanes for executive directors and other senior executives are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually, having regard
to competiive market practices and remuneration levels i comparnies which it consiclers to be comparable by taking irto account
therr market capitalisation and annual turnover, the Committee’s own judgement of the performance of the Group's businesses and
the contribution made by indwdual directors

The main benefits provided to the executive directors and senior executives are the use of a company car or the prowsion of a cash
allowance, medical nsurance and life assurance cover Details of directors’ emolurnents are given in section 4 on page 33
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1i} Annual performance refated bonus scheme

Full-trme UK based staff, ncluding executive directors, participate in a performance related bonus scheme Payments under the
scheme are based on the achievernent of profit and operational targets, which are set so that they are relevant both to the specfic
circumstances of the Company and the performance of the individual against their annually agreed objectives In the case of the
executive directors, any performance refated bonus 1s based on the achieverment of ther objectives and Group performance and any
payment to them 1s made partly from the UK bonus scheme and partly from a discretionary bonus poc! related to the pre-tax profits
of the Group, which provides indmdual performance bonuses against pre-set Group-related objectives

The UK bonus scheme consists of two components

a) Profit share — an annual bonus scheme in which all UK based employees are entitied to participate, where the bonus 1s directly
related to the performance of the Indwdual aganst objectives set for the year, and

b} Indndual performance bonus — the main purpose of this component 1s to create flexibiity in the allocation of bonus amounts based
on an indwviduals’ contnbution and the overall success of the Company Bonus awards to indnduals are determmined by sconng
indvidual performance dunng the year against pre-set abjectives, covenng five areas business development, client relationship
management, personal financial performance, people management and nsk management

The calculation of the discretionary bonus pool from wiich these two components are paid and the calculation of the discretionary

bonus pool In relation to Group related objectives are directly related to, respectively, the audited pre-bonus, pre-tax profits of the |
UK aperating companies or the Group so as to provide both for a retum to shareholders and for the creation of a bonus poal for

distnbution to employees

The Remuneration Committee agrees bonus payments, which are not pensionable

i) Pensions
The executive directors, apart from Mr D M Gray, are members of the Company's non-contnbutory money purchase pension scheme

iv) Long-term incentive plans

Executive directors and qualifying employees may, on the recommendation of the Remuneration Comrmittee, be granted options over
Company shares bought into an Employee Trust and fully expensed through the profit and loss account under the DTZ Holdings plc
Deferred Share Scheme (‘the Scheme’) and also options under the COSOP

The Scheme was established to reward exceptional performance over the medium-term and enable ndmiduals to obtan a greater
equity interest in DTZ Holdings plc, aligning the executives’ interests with those of shareholders, while at the same time gmving them an
Incentive to reman with the Group  Options granted under the Scheme normally permit shares in the Company to be acquired at a
nominal pnce, and can be exercised between thres and seven years from the date of grant Exercise 1s conditional upon the grantee
being In the employ of the Company at the date of exercise The grant of options 1s determined by the Remuneraton Committee on the
same basis as the Annual Performance Related Bonus Scheme An additonal cash payment equal to the notional accrued dvidend on
shares held in the Employee Trust between grant and exercise 1s paid on exercise to the eligible employee, which can be used by the
employee to offset tax labilites, thus faciitating the retention of shares

Sharesholders will, at the Annual General Meeting on 7 September 2008, be asked to approve changes and additions to the Group's
Long-Term Incentive Plans on the terms set cut in the Notice of Annual General Meeting, circulated to shareholders as of the date of
this report

To dats, long-term Incentives have not forrmed a major part of the total package Following a rewiew of the structure and effectveness of
the long-term incentive arangement, the Remuneration Committee 1s proposing certain changes for the future The Company has
confirmed its strategy of being a leading global prowider of integrated property solutions to clients This strategy acquires a focus on
long-term projects and will require significant cross-senice line actity within the Company to prowide the integrated solutions that our
clients are seeking

In order to support this business strategy, the Remuneration Committee has concluded that new long-term incentives should be
introduced to form a significant proportion of the total package In future years

The Remuneration Committee has consulied maor shareholders on the proposals and the new Long-Term Reward Plan (*LTRP") will
be put before shareholders for approval at the 2006 Annual General Meeting Detalls of the proposal are contaned in the circular to
shareholders contaming the Notice of Annual General Meeting
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Directors’ share options under the DTZ Holdings plc Deferred Share Scheme

Notonal
A At Va'?;;: m Exarose Data from whch
Namo 1 May 2005 Granted  Exormsed 30 Aprd 2006 € 30 Apd 2006 prce exorosablo Expuy date
M D Struckett 50,000 - - B0000 78500 22,000 nl 11 July 2003 11 July 2007
50,000 - - 50,000 81250 18,000 nl - 13 July 2004 13 July 2008
50,000 - - 50,000 55000 15,000 nl 18 July 2005 18 July 2009
50,000 - - 50,000 40,000 11,000 nl 11 July 2006 11 July 2010
30,000 - - 30,000 42,000 5,000 nl 16 July 2007 16 July 2011
30,000 - 30,000 66,000 2,000 ni 7 July 2008 7 July 2012
TS Maynard 32,086 - - 32,086 30,000 9,000 nil 1 May 2005 1 May 2009
20,000 - - 20,000 16,000 4,000 il 11 Jduty 2006 11 July 2010
20,000 - - 20,000 28,000 3.000 nl 16 July 2007 16 July 2011
20,000 - 20,000 44,000 2,000 il 7 July 2008 7 July 2012
T J Hodgson 15,000 - 15,000 - 16,500 - nil 18 July 2005 18 July 2009
20,000 - - 20,000 16,000 4,000 nl 11 July 2006 11 July 2010
20,000 - 20,000 44,000 2,000 nil 7 July 2008 7 July 2012
RH H Peto 15,000 - - 15000 16,500 4,000 nl 18 July 2005 18 July 2009
20,000 - - 20,000 18,000 4,000 nl 11July 2006 11 July 2010
20,000 - - 20,000 28,000 3,000 nl 16 July 2007 16 July 2011
30,000 - 30,000 66,000 2,000 nil 7 July 2008 7 July 2012
K B O'Higgins 30,000 - - 30,000 24000 7,000 nl 11 July 2006 11 July 2010
20,000 - - 20000 28,000 3,000 nl 16 July 2007 16 July 2011
20,000 - 20000 44,000 2,000 n 7 July 2008 7 July 2012
Totals 442 086 120,000 15,000 547,086

No options held by the above named directors lapsed dunng the year The mid-market price of the shares at the date of exercise by
Mr T J Hodgson was 244 25 pence The aggregate gan made on the exercise of the share options by Mr T J Hodgson, was £36,600
(2005 £33,100)

Under the Deferred Share Scheme, upon exercise of an option, a payment equal to the notional dvidend the shares would have
recenved from the date of grant to the date of exercise 1s made, plus an amount for notional interest In respect of the options exercised
in the year by Mr T J Hodgson the payment made was £3,000 (2005 £4,000)

Since the year end, the Remuneration Committee has recommended that deferred share options over ordinary shares be granted to
Mr M D Struckett, Mr T J Hodgson, Mr T S Maynard, Mr R H H Peto and Mr K B O’'Higgins  These have a norminal exercise prnce and
are exercisable at any tme between three and seven years after the grant date At the date of grant, the estimated values of these
were £67,000, £54,000, £27,000, £57,000 and £30,000 respectively In addition, the Remuneration Committee has recommended
that, subject to approval of the new LTRP at the Annual General Meeting, awards under the LTIP section be granted Mr M D Struckett,
Mr T J Hodgson, Mr T S Maynard, Mr R H H Peto and Mr K B O’'Higains in respect of shares with a value at the tme of the award

of up to 100% of ther base salary for the year ended 30 April 2006 If the LTIP 1s not approved, the Remuneration Committee has
recommended that further deferred share options in respect of shares of a value of one third of the value which would have been
awarded under the LTIP (to reflect the absence of performance conditions in relation to deferred share options) be granted to these
indmduals in place of such LTIP awards

These amounts are not included In the above table
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Directors’ share options under the COSOP
Grarted Exorused

At dung dunrg At Opton pnce Date from which
Nama 1 May 2006 the year theysar 30 Apd 2006 pence axerasabio Expry cate
M D Struckett 18,126 - - 18126 1655 16July2007  15July 2014
1,874 - - 1,874 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2011
T S Maynard 20,000 - - 20,000 895 11 July2006 10 July 2013
7,312 - - 7312 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2014
2,688 - - 2,688 1655 16 July 2007 15 Juty 2011
T J Hodgson 18,126 - - 18128 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2014
1,874 - - 1,874 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2011
R HH Peto 18,126 - - 18126 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2014
1,874 - - 1,874 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2011
K B O'Higgins 20,000 - - 20,000 895 11Juy 2006 10 July 2013
7312 - - 7,312 1655 16 Juy 2007 15 July 2014
2,688 - - 2,688 1655 16 July 2007 15 July 2011
D M Gray 20,000 - - 20,000 895 11 July 2006 10 July 2013
Totals 140,000 - - 140,000

The rmud-market pnce of the shares at 1 May 2005 and 30 Apnl 2006 was 199 5 pence and 643 0 pence respectively
The share pnce dunng the year ranged from 189 O pence to 680 0 pence

The COSOP 1s used chiefly to incentvise high performing employees within the Group and to provide newly appointed serior members
of staff with an interest in the equity of the Company The COSOP has a performance cntenon based on EPS growth beng greater than
annual increases N RPI plus 5% over a threa year penod before an option can be exercised

Details cf the other Company share aption schemes are set out on pages 63 and 65 of the Notes to the Accounts

4 Remuneraton of directors

The Chairman of the Board, Mr T D Melville-Ross, 1s a non-executive director and his fee, and those of the other non-executve
directors, 15 determined by the Board, having regard to the contnbubion required from and the responsibility taken by non-executive
directors and current market practice, including the level of fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable companies
Non-executive drrectors are not eligible for performance related bonuses or grants of options and therr fees are not pensionable

Mr P J Stone’s fees are payable to a company of which he is a director

The following table shows a breakdown of the remuneration of the directors for the year ended 30 Apnl 2006

Performance Pension
Salary related Benefits contributions Total Total

andfees  payments Note 1)  Sub-total {Note 2} 2008 2005

Name £1000 £000 £:000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
M D Struckett 137 122 19 278 413 691 520
T S Maynard 138 99 15 253 205 458 338
T J Hodgson 130 349 16 495 90 585 482
K B O'Higgins 157 250 15 422 24 446 328
R HH Peto 157 253 9 419 136 555 444
D M Gray 88 75 12 175 30 205 167
T D Mehlle-Ross 80 - - 80 - 80 66
L Cullen 35 - - 35 - 35 32
D Detter 30 - - 30 - 30 27
P J Stone 33 - - 33 - 33 27
A Lesniak 30 - - 30 - 30 27
1,016 1,148 86 2,250 898 3,148 2,458

Note {1) The man benefits provded conaist of the prowsion of a fully expensed car or provision of a cash alowance and medical nsurance
Note (2) Pension coninbutions to the Group's money purchasa pension schame nclude where appropnate salary sacnifices made by ndmdual directors The Company's
contnbution 1o the pension scheme 1s 15% of basic satary
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Pensions

Five (2005 five) of the executive directors participate n the DTZ Group Directors Pension Scheme, which 1s a defined contnbution
scheme open to senior employess and which 1s more particularty descnbed in note 24 to the Financial Statements on pages 66 to 68
The Scheme provides pension and other benefits Pension entitiements, which are based on basic salary, are subject to restnctions
proposed by the Incorne and Cormporation Taxes Act 1988 The Company also makes contnbutions to the personal pension plan of

Mr D M Gray
Executive directors’ contracts

It s the Company’s policy and practice to prowde for a roling notice penod of no greater than six months in the service contracts of

executive drectors Ther serice contracts do not iInclude prowision for a specific payment in the event of earty termmation
Details of the service contracts of the executive directors are set out In the table below

Narme Date of cument contract Netica penod
M D Struckett 1 May 1987 6 months
T S Maynard 1 May 2002 6 months
T J Hodgson 17 February 1993 6 months
D M Gray 1 May 2000 6 months
R HH Peto 1 May 1987 6 months
K B O'Higgins 1 October 2001 6 months

Non-executrve directors

All non-executive drrectors are elected for a term of three years unless required under the rotation prowisions of the Articles of the
Company to submit for re-election The appointment of non-executive directors can be terminated by erther side without notice

or compensation

The dates of appaintment of non-executive directors are shown n the table below

Name Date of appontment Date of curment contract umsrgd m
T D Melville-Ross 17 January 2000 17 January 2005 20 months
P J Stone 26 Apnl 2001 1 Apnl 2004 11 months
L Cullen 11 September 2003 10 September 2003 4 months
D Detter 8 March 2004 8 March 2004 10 months
A Lesniak 8 March 2004 8 March 2004 10 months
External appointments

The Company recogrises that executive directors may be nvited to become non-executive directors of other companies and that
such appointments can broaden therr knowledge and expenence, to the benefit of the Company The Board must approve any
such appointment An indmvidual director wall normally be required to account to the Company for fees recerved in respect of such
directorships unless otherwise approved Mr M D Struckett acted as a non-executive director of Tenon plc until 31 December 2005
and the Remuneration Committee approved the retention by hurn of the fees of £20,000 pad in this regard
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5 Shareholders' return

The graph below shows the total shareholder retum in respect of the Company's ordinary shares of 5 pence each for the five years
ended 30 Apnl 2006 relative to the total return for the FTSE Small Cap Index The directors believe that the FTSE Small Cap Index,

as an index of companies of smilar size to the Company, 1s the most appropnate aganst which to compare total shareholder return
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5 Shareholders’ return

The graph below shows the total shareholder return in respect of the Company's ordinary shares of 5 pence each for the five years

ended 30 Apnl 2006 relative to the total return for the FTSE Small Cap Index The directors believe that the FTSE Small Cap Index,

as an index of companies of similar size to the Company, 1s the most appropnate against which to compare total shareholder retum
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Compliance with the Combined Code
on Corporate Governance

Throughout the year ended 30 Apnl 2006
the Company has been in compliance
with the provisions set out in Section 1

of the July 2003 FRC Combined Code

on Corporate Governance {the ‘Combined
Code'} except

* as specified below, as regards the
nomination of a senior independent
director, and

* as regards the Chairman being
a member of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees

The Board continues to endorse and
apply the pnnciples of good corporate
governance reflected in the Combined
Code and in accordance with the
Combined Cods, a narratve Statement
of how the Company has applied the
provisions of the Combined Code Is set
out below

The Board of Directors

The Board compnses Mr T D Mehalle-Ross,
Group Charman, Mr M D Struckett,

Group Chief Executive, five other executive
directors and four non-executive drrectors
There ts a separation of the roles and
responsibiities of the Chaiman and the
Chief Executve The Board has considered
carefully the need to appoint a senior
independent director and concluded that,
N view of the calibre and number of the
non-executve directors, it 1S not necessary
to nominate a senior Independent director
at present

The directors submit themsslves for
election at the first AGM after ther
appointment and for re-election at least
every three years thereafter Detalls of
the directors submiting themselves for
re-election at the AGM on 7 September
2006 are shown on page 10 on the
Notice of Meeting

As Group Chaman, Mr Mehvlle-Ross i1s
not considered INndependent, but the other
non-executive directors are considered

by the Board to be independent of
managerment and free from any business
or other relationships that could matenally
interfere with the exercise of therr
independent judgement Non-executive
drectors are appointed for penods of up
to three years
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Biographies of the non-executive directors
appear on pages 26 and 27 and
demonstrate the calibre and breadth of
expenence they provide to the Company,
which complements the mdustry expenence
of the executive directors  Through the
Company Secretary, all drectors can, if they
s0 wish, take Independent adwvice at the
expense of the Company

The Board has a formal schedule of
matters reserved to it for decision
that includes

¢ Approval of annual budgets and
strategic plans,

* The establishment of new businesses or
businesses N new gecgraphical areas,

* Acquistions and disposals, major capital
projects and matenal contracts,

e Changes to the Group’s caprtal,
corporate or management structure,

and otherwise delegates specific
responsibiliies to the Board Committees,
as descnbed below All directors recewne
wiritten reports prior to each Board
meeting that enable them to take informed
decisions on the corporate and business
issues which they are considenng

The Company Secretary 1 responsible to
the Board for ensunng that its procedures
are followed and 15 available to indmdual
directors for advice on those procedures

The Company Secretary supports the
Group Chamman and Group Chief
Executive in ensunng new directors receve
appropnate trairing and induction to the
Company and that ongoing training for
directors Is provided when a need for such
traming is dentfied as part of the Board's
annual evaluation process

Board evaluation

Formal evaluation of the performance
and effectiveness of the Board and of
the pnncipal Board Committees was
conducted durning the year under the
leadership of the Group Chairman and
the respactive Committes Chawrnen
This was done through structured
meetings, including separate meetings
dealing with the Chaimman’s performance
The Board and each Committee has
concluded that its performance and that
of its ndwviduat members i1s generally
satisfactory and 1s ahigned with the
Company's strategic objectives and the
interests of shareholders

Board Committees

The Board has established the following
Committees, details of which are set

out below, each with defined terms of
reference, procedures, responsibiities
and powers Each Commuittee reviews its
terms of reference and effectveness at
least annually The minutes of commuitiee
meetings are normally sent to all directors
and oral reports of Committee actviies
are given at Board meetings The terms
of reference of the Board Committees
are available, on request, from the
Cormpany Secretary

Audit Committee

The Audt Committee 1s chared by

Mr L Cullen and compnses the
non-executive directors There were no
changes to the composttion of the
Committee dunng the year but since the
year end the Group Charrman has resigred
from the Committee in ine with Corporate
Governance practce

The external and internal audrtors, the
Group Chief Executive and the Group
Finance Director nommally attend meetings
of the Committes and the Committee also
meets separately with the external and
internal auditors without management
present The Audt Committee discharges
its responsibiities by mesting at least three
tmes a year to

* Review the intenm and annual financial
staternents prior to submission to
the Board,

* Keep under review the operation and
effectiveness of the Comparny’s internal
financial control and accounting policies,

* Monitor and review the effectiveness
of the Company's operational
and compliance controls and
nsk management,

* Review the nature and extent of
non-audtt services provided by the
external auditors, and

* Review the plans and work of the
internal auditors

The Audit Committee also reviews the
scope and cost of both the internal

and external audit and makes a
recommendation to the Board regarding
re-appointment of the external audtors

As part of s role in relabon to the provision
of non-audit services by the external
audsors, the Audit Committee agrees with
the external auditors which types of work
the external auditors are permitted to
undertake and monttors the nature and
extent of non-audit work undertaken by
the external auditors
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In forrming thesr opinion of the
ingependence and objectwmty of the
external audrtors, the Audit Committee
takes into account the safeguards
operating within Deloitte & Touche LLP
Regard s given to the nature of
remuneration receved for other services
provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP to the
Company and, inter afia, confimation I1s
sought from them that the fee payable for
the annual audt s adequate to enable
them to fulfil therr obligation in relation to
the scope of the audit

The Board considers that the members

of the Audit Committee as a whole have
sufficlent recent and relevant expenence to
camry out the functons of the Committee
and has not 1dentified a particular

member of the Committee as having

such expenence

Nomination Commuttee

The Nomination Commuittee 1s charred by
the Group Chairman and compnses the
non-executive directors and the Group
Chief Executive There were no changes
to the composition of the Committee in
the year

The Committee meets as and when
required to

* Review the structure, size and
compositon of the Board and make
recommendations as to any changes,

+ Keep under review the leadership needs
of the Company and consider succession
planning for drrectors and other senior
executives,

* Aszist in identifying and become invotved
in the selection process for candidates to
fil Board vacancies, and

» Evaluate the time required to be spent
by the non-executive drectors and
ensure that what 1s required of them
15 clearty specified

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Commuttes 1s charred
by Mr P J Stone and compnses the
non-executive directors The Committee
meets at least once a year and considers,
for recommendation to the Board,
Company policy on remuneraticn and
conditions of senace, and, within the
terms of the agreed polcy, approves the
composition and level of remuneration
of executive directors, the Group
Chairman and such other members of
the executive management as it 1s
designated to consider
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When the Committee considers matters
relating to an indwvidual, that person is not
present nor does that person act in refation
to any matters relating to him

The Remuneration Report 1s on pages 30
to 35

Meetings

Dunng the year there were 12 Board
meetngs, four Audit Committes meetings,
one Remuneration Committee meeting
and one Nomination Committee meeting
Attendance at these meetings by individual
drrectors s given in the table below

Number of meetngs attended

Boaro Audt Remuner Nomine
abon aton
T D Mehlle-Ross 12 4 1 1

M D Struckett 12 - - 1

T S Maynard 12 - - -

T J Hodgsen 14 - - -

R HH Peto 11 - - -

KBOHggns 12 - - -

D M Gray 12 - - -
L Cullen 12 4 1 1
D Detter 11 3 1 1
P J Stone 12 4 1 1
A Lesmiak 11 3 1 1

Relations with shareholders

The Company reports formally to
shareholders twice each year, when
its half-year and full-year results are
announced The AGM takes placs in
London and all the directors who are
able to attend are avalable, formally at
the mesting and mformally afterwards,
for questions

The Group Chief Executive and Group
Finance Director hold regular meehings
throughout the year with institutional
investors and analysts

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements
The directors are responsible for prepanng
the Annual Report and the financial
statemnents The directors are required to
prepare financial statements for the Group
in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (FRSs) and have also
elected to prepare financial statements

for the Company in accordance with IFRS
Company law requires the directors to
prepare such financial statements in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, the Companies Act
1985 and Article 4 of the I1AS Regulation

International Accounting Standard 1
requires that financial statements present
farly for each financial year the Company’s
financial posihon, financial performance
and cash flows This requires the fathful
representation of the effects of transactions,
other events and conditions in accordance
with the defintions and recogrition cntena
for assets, habilties, mcome and expenses
set out in the Internatonal Accounting
Standards Board's 'Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements’ In wrtually all circumstances,
a far presentation will be achieved by
complance with all International Financtal
Reporting Standards Directors are also
requrred to

» Select applicable accounting policies and
apply them property,

¢ Present information, including accounting
polcies, in a manner that prowides
relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information,

* Provide additional disclosures when
cormplance with the specific requirements
in IFRS 1s insufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular
transachons, other events and conditons
on the entity’s financial position and
financial performance, and

= Prepare the accounts on a going concern
basis unless, having assessed the abilty
of the Company to continue as a going
concern, management erther ntends to
hquidate the entity or to cease trading, or
has no realistic atternative but to do so

‘The directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time

the financial position of the Cormpany
and Group, for safeguarding the assets,
for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and
other imegulanties and for the preparation
of a Directors’ Report and the Directors’
Remuneration Report which cormply

with the requirements of the Companies
Act 1985

The drectors are responsible for the
mantenance and integnty of the Company
website Legislation in the United

Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements differs
from legislation 10 other junsdictions
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Each of the persons who i1s a director
at the date of approval of this report
confimns that

* 50 far as the director 1s aware, there s
no relevant audrt informaton of which the
Company's auditors are unaware, and

* the director has taken all the steps that
he/she ought to have taken as a director
in order to make himself/herself aware
of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company's auditors
are aware of that mformation

This confirmation 1s given and should
be interpreted in accordance with the
provisions of Section 2347ZA of the
Companies Act 1985

The directors are responsible for ensurng
the mamtenance of proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial postion
of the Group and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 1985 The directors
are also responsible for ensuring the
operation of systems of internal control and
for taking reasonable steps to safeguard
the assets of the Company and the Group,
including taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and datection of fraud and
other iregulanties

Statement on internal control

and nsk management

The Board takes ultmate responsibility for
the Group's system of internal controls and
reviews ther effectiveness Such a system
can provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance aganst misstatement or loss
The systen of control I1s designed to
enable the Board to govern and manage
the business to achieve the Group’s

risk management objectives but the
system cannot be an end in tself or
elminate the nsk of falure to achieve

the Group's objectives

The Board confirms that it has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal control and nsk management
This review was based on reports to the
Board and the Audit Committee, prepared
by the internal auditors and management
These reports covered the nature and
extent of the signicant nsks facing the
Group, ther potertial ympact, Iikelhood of
miatenalising, key controls, and mitigating
actions, together with early warning
systems and additional action that requires
implementation, Including the work of
internal audrt
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The prncipal elements of the Group’s
system of mternal control and risk
management are

* The Board's varous Committees, which
have defined financial authortties and
operational responsibilites designed
to enable effective decision making
A matnx management structure
operates within the business focusing
on commercial matters, the technical
excellence of the Group and client
relationship management

The Group Practices Committes,
which 15 chaired by the Group Chiet
Operating Officer, meets regularty to
review the management of nsk ansing
out of the Group’s professional, fee
earning actvues

The Group Risk Management Committee,
which 1s chared by the Group Chief
Operating Officer, meets regularly to
review the management of nsk ansing out
of the Group’s actvities including those
ansing from its professional, fee

earning actvities

In the Group’s man subsidiaries, jont
ventures and associated undertakings,
certain of the Group executive directors
and other senior employees are members
of the vanous statutory and, where
approprate, management boards
These boards and ther committees
meet regularly to consider significant
commercial matters, including nsk
managerment and internal control,

and have formal reporting structures

to the Board

An ongoing process for identfying,
evaluating and managing the significant
nisks faced by the Group in accordance
with the Turmbull Guidance on internal
controls, has been n place for the year
under review and up to the date of
approval of the annual report A Group
wide Risk Register maps the matnx
management structure of the business to
identify the nsks the business faces, ther
potental Impact, ikelihood of occurrence
and the key contrals, financial, operational
and comphance and action plans to
mitigate these

The Audit Committee assists the Board in
discharging its responsibility to review the
system of internal control

The group executives conduct a top
down identfication and rewew of the
main nsks facing the Group and the
control function to mitigate these

There 1s an Internal Audit function, which
has been cutsourced to KPMG, that 1s
subject to the controlling direction of the
Audit Committee Internal Audit provide

1o the Audit Committee an independent
assessment of the Group's system of
internal control, through reviewang how
effectively key nsks are being managed,
and assist management in the effective
discharge of therr responsibilities by
carrying out independent appraisals
and making recommendations

for mprovement

» Business policies and internatonat quality
standards that are mantained across the
UK are being progressively embedded
In the pan-European and subsichary
businessés of the Group

* Members of the Group are also subject to
regulatory control by external bodies such
as the FSA and the RICS and 1s audited
in respect of the quality standard
ISO900H

Health and safety

The Company recognises that the

mantenance of high standards of health

and safety management is imperative

to ensure the welfare of its employees

Clients too are placing a greater emphasis

on health and safety when deciding which

service providers they will work with

Cur commitment to improving health and

safety performance will demonstrate our :
ability to meet therr expectations, and !
helo the Group to win more business

The Company's policy 1s to stnive towards
an integrated approach to health and
safety throughout the supply chain

Managing the environment

The Company regards the promotion of

an environrmental strategy an important
element In operating a successful business,
not only to minimise its mpact on global
resources but also to mantan good
nvestor and client relations

We believe that we have already taken
signdficant steps in reducing the potential
for the Group's actviies Impacting on

the environment, by the development of
environmental standards for properties,
training for employees and the adoption of
arecycling programme  These inmatves
have been acknowledged through a
number of chent award schemes

Approved by the Board of Drectors and
signed on behalf of the Board

(\MQX ?

P M Cook
Secretary
4 July 2006




Independent Auditors’ Report

Independent Auditors’ Report

to the members of DTZ Holdings plc
We have audited the Group and indmdual
Company financial statements (the
“financial statements”) of DTZ Holdings
PLC for the year ended 30 Apnl 2006
which compnse the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated and indmdual
Company balance sheets, the consolidated
and indmdual Company cash flow
statements, the consolidated and indvidual
Company statements of recognised income
and expenses and the related notes 1 to
28 These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies

set out therein We have also audited

the nformation in the directors’
remuneration report that is descnbed

as having been audited

This report 18 made solely to the Company's
members, as a body, n accordance with
Section 235 of the Comparves Act 1985
Qur audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required

to state to them in an auditors' report and
for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Company and the Company’s members
as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities

of directors and auditors

The drectors’ responsibiiies for
prepanng the annual report, the directors’
remuneration report and the financal
statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Financial Reporting
Standards {IFRSs) as adopted for use in
the European Union are set out in the
statement of directors’ responstbilites

Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial
statements and the part of the directors’
remuneration report descrnbed as having
been audited 1n accordance with relevant
United Kingdom legal and regulatory
requrements and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We repart to you our opinion as to whether
the financtal statements give a true and farr
view, In accordance with the relevant
financial reporting framework, and whether
the financial statements and the part of the
directors’ remuneration report descnbed as
having been audited have been property
prepared In accordance with the
Comparues Act 1985 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regutation We report to you whether
in our opinton, the information given in the
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directors’ report s consistent with the
financial statements We also report to you
if the Company has not kept proper
accounting records, If we have not receved
all the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding drectors’
remuneration and other transactions 1s

not disclosed

We also report to yout if, in our opinion,

the Company has not complied with any of
the four directors’ remuneration disclosure
requirements specified for our review by
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authonty These compnise the amount of
each slement In the remuneration package
and information on share options, details of
long temn ncentive schemes, and money
purchase and defined benefit schemes

We give a statement, to the extent
possible, of detals of any non-compliance

We review whether the corporate
governance statement reflects the
Company's complance with the nine
provisions of the 2003 FRC Cornbined
Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authorty,
and we report 1f it does not We are not
required to consider whether the Board's
staternents on internal control cover all nsks
and controls, or form an opirion on the
effectiveness of the Group's corporate
governance procedures or its nsk and
control procedures

We read the directors’ report and the other
information contained in the annual report
including the unaudted part of the
directors’ remuneration report and we
consider the implications for our report If
we become aware of any apparent
misstaternents or matenal inconsistencies
with the financial statements

Basis of audit optnion

We conducted our audit in accordance
with Internatronal Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the Audting
Practices Board An audit ncludes
examination, on a test basis, of ewdence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements and the part of the
directors’ remuneration report descnbed as
havng been audited It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and
Judgements made by the directors in the
preparation of the financial statements, and
of whether the accounting policies are
appropnate to the Company's
circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit

50 as to obtan all the information and
explanations which we considered
necessary In order to provide us with
sufficient evidence 10 give reasonable
assurance that the financial staterments and
the part of the directors’ remuneration
report descnbed as having been audted
are free from matenal misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other
imegulanty or error In forrming our opinion
we also evaluated the overall adequacy
of the.presentation of information in the
financial statements and the part of the
directors’ remuneration report descnbed
as hawving been audited

Opinion
In Gur opinion

+ the Group financial statements give a true
and far view, n accordance with IFRSs
as adopted for use in the European
Union, of the state of the Group’s affarrs
as at 30 Apnl 2006 and of its profit for the
year then ended,

the iIndnadual Company financial
statements give a true and far view, m
accordance with IFRSs as adopted for
use m the European Urion as appled in
accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the
Indvidual company’s affairs as at 30 April
2008,

the financial statements and the part of
the directors' remuneration report
descnbed as having been audited have
been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 and
Article 4 of the |IAS Regulation, and

« the information given in the directors’
report 15 consistent with the financial
statements

beltle » Towde LLP

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants and Regsterad Auditors
Lorndon

4 July 2006




Consolidated Income Statement
Year ended 30 Apnl 2006

Continuing operations Nota % EQ&DE
Revenue 2 232,050 194,441
Staff costs 3 (144,155) (118,832
Other operating costs (62,146) (56,291)
Depreciation {2,566) (2,592
(208,867) {177,715
Operating profit 4 23183 16,726
Share of lusses In joint ventures (28) {445)
Share of profits In associated undertakings 4,684 3,996
Total profit from operations including joint ventures and associated undertakings 27,839 20,277
Income from other fixed asset investments 5 1,504 593
Finance income 6 1,040 408
Finance expense 6 (722) (675)
Net finance income/(expense) 318 (267)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 29,661 20,603
Taxation on profit on ordinary activiies 7 (9,460) (7,782
Profit for the year from continuing operations 20,201 12,821
Attnbutable to:
Equity sharehoiders of the parent 18,965 12,245
Minonty interest 1,236 576
20,201 12,821
Basic earnings per ordinary share 10 3787p 2475
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 10 3724p 2451p

40 DTZ Holdings plc
Annual report and accounts 2008




Consolidated Balance Sheet

At 30 Apnl 2006

2006 2005
Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 38,382 30,746
Property, plant and equprment i2 7,513 6,678
Investments In associates 13 9,726 8,669
Other investments — financial assets 14 2,445 3,452
Deferred tax assets 7 5761 7,491
Trade and other recevables 15 92 139
63919 57,175
Current assets
Work In progress 4,465 5113
Trade and other recevables 15 77,650 58,493
Tax recoverabla 485 1,408
Cash and cash equivalents 31,791 17,030
114,391 82,134
Current habihities
Bank loans 16 750y  (1.,537)
Trade and cther payables 17 (84,625) (65,034
Tax liabiities {2,268) (2,739}
Provisions 18 (923) (354)
(88,566) (69,664)
Non-current habilihies
Bank loans 16 (750)  (1,500)
Retirernent benefit obligations {8,989) (11,081)
Trade and other payables 17 {4,740)  (5,298)
Deferred tax habilties 7 (334) (93)
Prowvisions 18 {9,389) (6.287)
(24,202) (24,259)
Net assets 65,542 45386
Capital and reserves
Called-up share caprtal 20 2,685 2,656
Share premiurm account 21 16,310 15,681
Retained earnings 21 42,022 257305
Other reserves 2i 1,530 278
Equity attributable to equity shareholders of the parent 62,547 43,910
Minonty interest 21 2,995 1,476
Total equity 65,542 45386

These financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 4 July 2006
Signed on behalf of the Board of Dwectors

Mostdod | [ BN o,

M D Struckett T S Maynard
Group Chef Executve Group Finance Dwector
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Company Balance Sheet

At 30 Apnl 2006

2006 2005
Note £'000 £ 000
Non-current assets
[nvestments in associates and subsidiary compantes 13 15530 15514
Other nvestments - financiat assets 14 1 4
15,531 15,518
Current assets
Trade and other recenvables 15 21,786 22,144
Cash and cash equivalents 75 557
21,861 22,701
Current habilities
Bank loans 16 (750) (937}
Trade and other payables 17 (281)  (1.947)
(1,031} (2,884}
Non-current habilities
Bank loans 16 (750) {1,500)
Provisions 18 (4,250) (4,250
(50000 (5,750
Net assets 31,361 29,585
Captal and reserves
Called-up share capital 21 2,685 2,656
Share premium account 21 16,310 15581
Retained earnings 21 12,366 11,348
Total equity 31,361 29,585

These financtal statements were approved and authonsed for issue by the Board of Directors on 4 July 2006

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

ML D o b (BN roard.

M D Struckett
Group Chuef Executive
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T S Maynard
Group Finance Dwector




Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statement

Year ended 30 Apnl 2006

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005
Nota £1000 £000 £1000 £ 000

Cash flows from operating activihes
Cash generated from operations A 27118 25607 3,695 6,538
Dmadends recewved 3,153 3,032 - -
Interest receved 1,040 408 - -
Interest pard (722) (675) {115} (83)
Income tax paid (7,852) (8,203} - -
Net cash generated from operating actvties 22,737 20,176 3,580 6,455

Cash flows from investing activibes
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equiprment 140 386 - -
Proceeds from sale of investment 1,600 - 11 -
Income from other fixed asset investments 1,504 593 - -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3,409) (3.015) - -

Purchase of investments in associates, jont ventures and other investments

(net of cash and cash equvalents acquirect) {2,803) (7,345} (16} (4,505)
Net cash used In investing actwvities (2,968) (9,381) (8 (4,505}

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from 1ssue of share capital 758 206 758 206
Proceeds from borrowings - 1,627 - 1,627
Repayment of loans {1,537} {800) {937) -
Repayment of finance leases {12) - - -
Drvdends paid to equity shareholders (3,878) {(3,338) (3,878) (3,338
Dwvidends paid to minontes (307) (307) - -
Net cash used in financing actvties {4,976) (2,612) (4,057) (1,508)
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents B 14,793 8,183 {482) 445
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 17,030 8,849 557 112
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (32) 2) - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 31,791 17,030 75 557
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Notes to the Consolidated and Company Cash Fow Statement

Year ended 30 Apnl 2006

A Cash generated from operations

Group Company
2008 2005 2006 2005
£1000 £000 £000 £000
Profit for the year 20,201 12,821 4,896 9,917
Adjustments for
Taxation 9,460 7,782 - -
Depreciation and mparment 2,566 3,145 - -
Share of profit in associated undertakings and joint venture (4,656) (3,551) - -
Income from other fixed asset Investments {1,504) (593) - -
Net finance fincome)/expense (318) 267 115 83
Profit on sale of nvestments - - (8) -
Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment 42 112) - -
Operating cash flow before movements in working capital 25,7 19,759 5,003 10,000
Decrease in work In progress 648 89 - -
(Increase)/decrease in recewvables (15,280) (5.280) 358 (3,419
Increase/(decrease) in payables 15959 11,039 (1,666} {43)
Cash generated from operations 27,118 25,607 3,695 6,538
B Analysis of movement in net funds
MMy Cther m At30 ?gr{o;
£000 £000 £ 000 £'000
Analysis of movement in net funds
Cash and cash equivalents 17,030 14,761 - 3NN
Bank loans after one year {1,500) 937 (187) {750}
Bank loans within one year {1.537) 600 187 {750)
Finance leases (12} 12 - -
13981 186310 - 30,291
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Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense

Year ended 30 Apnl 2006

2006 2005
£1000 £'000
Net actuanal profit/loss) on retirement benefit obligaton 1,540 (2,015)
Net revaluation of other investments (300) -
Foreign exchange translation differences 592 223
Net ncome/{expense) recogrnised directly In equity 1,832 (1,792
Transfers from reserves to income statement (563} -
Profit for the year from continuing operations 20,201 12,821
Tota recognised income and expense for the year 21470 11,029
Adoption of IAS 32 and 39 1,426 -
22,896 11,029
Attnbutable to
Equity shareholders of the parent 21,660 10453
Minority interest 1,236 576
22,896 11,029
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Notes to the Accounts

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared In accordance with International Fnancial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union {EU) and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation and those parts of the
Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS The 2006 financial statements are the Group's first set of financial
statermnents prepared under IFRS, with a transition date of 1 May 2004 The disclosures required by IFRS 1 *First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards™ concerning the transition from UK GAAP to IFRS are given in note 25

Dunng the year, the IASB and IFRIC have 1ssued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these

financial statements
Effectve cats

International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRSs)

IFRS 7 Financial nstrument  Disclosures 1 January 2007

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)

IFRIC 4  Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 1 January 2006
IFRIC8  Scope of IFRS 2 1 May 2006
IFRIC9 Reassessment of embedded denvatives 1 June 2006

The Group will adopt the new standards and interpretations, 1f applicable, when they become effective However, the Directors do not
anticipate the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a matenal Impact on the Group's financial statements in the
pencd of nitial application

1 Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS The pnneipal accounting policies adopted are set out below

Accounting convention
The financial statements are prepared under the histoncal cost convention except for the revaluation of unlisted nvestment which are
held at therr far value under 1AS32 and IAS39

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements Incorporate the financial statemenits of the Company and s subsidiary undertakings, together
with the Group's share of results of its associates and joint ventures

A subsidiary 1s an entity controlled by the Company Controt 1s achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtan benefits from s actmties

The results of subsicianes acquired or disposed of dunng the year are Included in the consolidated income statement from the effective
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal

Where necessary, adustments are made to the financial staterments of subsidianes to bring their accounting policies into ine with those
used by other members of the Group All ntra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eiminated on consolidation

Investments in associates

An associate 1 an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that 1s nerther a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture
Significant influence 1s the power to participate In the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but 1s not control or

Joint control

The results, assets and labilities of associates are incorporated in the financial statements using the equity method of accounting
Under this method investments in associates are camed in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adusted for post-acquisition
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any mparment in the value of indmdual nvestments Losses of
an assoclate n excess of the Group's Interest N that associate are not recognised The Group'’s share of profit, net of tax, 1s recognised
in the Income statement

Where a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in
the relevant associate

Interests in joint ventures

A jont verture 1s a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic actmty that 1s subject to
Joint control, that 18 when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities require the unarimous consent
of tha parties shanng control The Group's share of the post-acquistion results of joint ventures 1s shown in the consolidated income
statement Investments in jont ventures are included in the consolidated balance sheet at cost plus the appropnate share of
post-acquisition resufts and reserves

Revenue recognition
Revenue 1s measured at the far value of the consideration receved or recenvable Revenue compnses commissions and fees recevable
from agency and professional actmties, exclusive of sales-related taxes and amounts due to third parties

Agency commissions are recogrised erther on the unconditional completion of a contract or when a fee 1s contractually due
Professional fees are recognised on completion of the assignment
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Accounting pohcies continued

Goodwill

Goodwill ansing on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisiion over the Group's interest in the far value of the
identifiable assets and habilibes of the subsichary, associate or jointly controlled entty at the date of acquisiion Goodwaill i1s initially
recognised as an asset at cost and 1s subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses

Goodwill 1s reviewed for impairment at least annually Any impairment loss 1s recognised immediately in the income statement and 1s
not reversed In a subsequent penod

Goodwill In respect of subsidianes is included in intangible fixed assets Goodwill relating to associates 1s Included within the carrying
value of the associate

For acquisiions that completed prior to 30 Apnl 1998, goodwill was watten off directly to reserves In the year in which it arose
Goodwill acquired from 1 May 1998 to 30 Apnl 2004 was captalised and amortised over its useful economic Ife Goodwil ansing on
acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retaned at the previous UK GAAP camying value subject to being tested
for imparment at that date Goodwill previously wntten off directly to reserves has not been reinstated and will not be included in
determining any profit or loss on disposal of the entity to which 1t relates

Intangible fixed assets

Licences are classed as intangible fixed assets as per IAS38 As such they are measured intally on the balance sheset at the carrying
value at the date of transrtion to IFRS and thereafter amortised over a penod reflecting therr value At each balance sheet date the
Group reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible fixed assets to detenmine whether there 1s any indication of an Impairment loss

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciabon and any related impairment losses

Depreciation 1s provided so as to wnte off the cost of tangible fixed assets over therr estmated useful Iives, on a straight-lne basis,
using the following rates

Long and short leaseholds over term of lease
Furniture and equipment 10% to 33% per annum
Motor vehicles 20% to 25% per annum

Prowvision 1s made for asset impairment If the asset’s recoverable amount (the higher of net realisable value and value in use) falls below
its carrying value

Work in progress

Work in progress 1s recognised in relation to professtonal actmities over the duration of the assignment and Is stated at the lower of cost,
including atinbutable overheads, and net realisable value No account I1s taken of work in progress relating to agency actmties If the
recovery of such costs 1s contingent upon the successful completion of the transaction

Taxation
The tax charge compnses current tax payable and deferred tax The current tax charge represents an estmate of the amounts payable
to tax authorties in respect of the Group’s taxable profits

Deferred tax 1s recogrused on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used In the computation of taxable profit, and 1s accounted for using the balance sheet lability method
Deferred tax labities are generally recognised for all taxable termporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to

the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will be avallable against which deductible temporary differences can be utihsed
Such assets and habilites are not recogrised If the temporary difference anses from goodwill or the initial recogrition (other than in
a business combination) of cther assets and llabiliies 1n a transaction that affects nether the taxable profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax liabiities are recogrused for taxable temporary differences ansing on investments in subsidianes and associates, and interest
In jont ventures, except where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets Is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered

Deferred tax 1s calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the lability i1s settled or the asset realised
Deferred tax 1s charged or credited to the income statement, except when it relates to tems charged or credited directly o equity,
in which case the deferred tax 1s also dealt wath In equity

Foreign cumencies

Transactions m foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction At each balance sheet date,
monetary assets and habilties that are denominated m foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevaiing on the balance sheet
date Gans and losses ansing on retranslation are included in the Income statement

For the purpose of presenting consclidated financial statements, the assets and labilites of the Group's foreign operations are
expressed In stering using exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date Income and expense tems are translated at the
average exchange rates for the penod Exchange differences ansing are classified as equity and transferred to the translation reserve
Such translation differences are released to the Income statement in the penod in which the foreign operation 1s disposed of

Goodwill and farr value adjustments ansing on the acqusition of a foreign operation are, after the date of transaction, treated as assets
and habilites of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate
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MNotaes to the Accounts

1 Accounting policies continued

Bomrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the penod in which they are incurred

Financial instruments

The Group has applied the financial Instruments standards IAS32 and IAS3S prospectively from 1 May 2005 as permitted by IFRS1
The man impact of the application of these standards involves the change in the measurement and classification of investments
These were measured at cost less provision for impaimment under UK GAAP and from 1 May 2005 are reclassified as avalable-for-sale
financial assets measured at far value, if this can be reliably determined, or cost

The Group utihses financial dervatives when required to crystalhse exposuras on certan transactions denominated m foreign currencies
It 1s not the Group's policy to speculate nor to denve profits as a pnncipal objective from these transactions Authonsation Is gven at
Board level before the transaction can be effected

Trade recevables

Trade recevables are measured at initial recognition at far value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effectve
interest rate method Appropnate allowances for estmated irecoverable amounts are recognised In profit or loss when there 1s objective
evidence that the asset 1s impared The allowance recognised 1s measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the prasent value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at inthal recognition

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liguid investrments that are
readly convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant nsk of changes in value

Bank borrowings

Interest-beanng bank loans and overdrafts are inhially measured at farr value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method Any diference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the setttement or redemption

of borrowings 1s recogrised over the term of the borrowangs in accordance with the Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see above)

Trade payables

Trade payables are intially measured at far value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method

Retirement benefit obligations

Retirement benefit obligations to employees are provided by three pnncipal schemes, which are funded by contnbutions from certan
Group companies and employees Payments are made in accordance with penodic calculations by a professionally qualified actuary
Contnbutions to the defined contnbution schemes are charged as an expense on a payments basis

For the defined benefit scheme, the cost of providing benefits 1s calculated by a professionally qualified actuary using the projected unit
crecht method Actuanal gaing and losses are recogrised in full iIn the perod in which they cccur and are presented in the staterment of
recognised ncome and expense

Tha retirement benefit obligations recogrised in the balance sheet represent the present value of the defined benefit obligations
determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows using the rate of nterest or a high quality corporate bond less the farr value
of scheme assets

Capitaksed pension habihty

Provision 1s made for the capitalised value of future pensions payable to certan former partners and widows of the Bernard Thorpe
partnership Thus 1s calculated in accordance with advice prowded by Lane Clark & Peacock, professionally quaiified actuanes, on bases
appropnate as at the year-end date In the event of a permanent dimuinution in the profits of the Group, the llability would substantially
reduce The deferred tax asset relating to this liability 1s recognised within non current assets Payments in respect of these pensions
are charged to the provision

Leasing

Assets held under finance leases and the related lease obligations are recorded in the balance sheet at the far value of the leased
assets at the inception of the leases The excess of each lease payment over the recorded lease obhgations 1s treated as a finance
charge which 1 amortised over each lease tenm to gve a constant rate of charge on the remaning balance of the obligation
Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the income statement in equal annual amounts over the penod of the leases

Benefits receved and recenvable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are spread on a straight-ine basis over the lease term
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Accounting policies continued

Share-based payments
In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS1, IFRS2 has been applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November
2002 that had not vested as of 1 May 2005

The Group issues share option awards to certain employees and senior executives on a penodic basis under the COSOP The awards
are measured at far value at the date of the grant and are expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting penod, based on the
Group's estmate of shares that will eventually vest

The farr value of the share awards 1s determined using the Black-Scholes option valuation method

Provisions

Provisions are recogrised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it 1s probable that the Group wil
be requred to settle that cbligation Provisions are measured at the directors best estimate of the expenditure required to settls the
obligation at the balance sheet date

Cntical accounting judgements and key sources of esttmation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of estmates, assumptions and judgements These estimates,
assumptions and judgements affect the reported amounts of assets, labilites and contingent habiliies at the balance sheet date
as well as affecting the reported Income and expenses for the year Detatls of these estmates, assumptions and judgements are
discussed below

Impaiment of goodwill

Determuning whether goodwillis imparred requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to anse from the
cash-gensrating unit and a surtable discount rate in order to calculate the present value Actual outcomes could vary significantly
from these estimates Refer to note 11 to the financial statements for estimates used in this analysis

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes as descrbed In note 24 to the financial statements The assets of
the schemes are measured at ther far value at the balance sheet date Scheme liabiies are measured using the projected unit credit
method, which takes account of projected earnings increases, using actuanal assumptions that give the best estmate of the future
cash flows that will anse under the scheme liabilities These cash flows are discounted at the nterest rate applicable to high-quality
corporate bonds of the same currency and term as the labiliies Any surplus or deficit of scheme assets over liabilities Is recogrised
In the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or liability (deficit) In determining the value of scheme habilities different assumptions could
significantly alter the amount of the deficit recogrised in the balance sheet and the pension cost charged to the iIncome statement
The assumptions adopted for the Group's penston schemes are set out In note 24 to the financial statements

Income taxes
As the Group operates across many Income tax junscictions, judgement is required in determining the worldwide prowision for
ncome taxes

Fair value of assets avallable-for-sale
The far value of assets avallable-for-sale that are not traded n an active market 1s determined by using valuation techriques The Group
has used discounted cash flow analysis for those available for sale assets not traded in an actve market
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2 Segmental analysis

For management purposes, the Group s currently organised into two operating dmsions — EMEA and Asia Pacific These dvisions are
the basis on which the Group reports its pnmary segment informatton, however for disclosure purposes, the UK and Ireland has been
separately analysed In addition, the Group operates five business lines across each geographic segment

Year ended 30 Apnl 2006

UK and EMEA {ex UK

Corporate
overheads Consolidated

ireland  and Ireland)  Tot2) EMEA  Asia Pacific
£'000 €000 £'000 £:000 £'000

Revenue
External Sales

Capital markets 40,259 21,462 61,721 2,624 64,345

Valuation 31,975 9900 41,875 1,329 43,204

Occupational and development markets 45492 20,758 66,250 4,533 70,783

Professional services 29,588 5321 34,909 2,153 37,062

Consulting and research 15,237 1,351 16,588 68 16,656
Total external sales 162,551 58,792 221,343 10,707 - 232,050
Total Revenue 162,551 58,792 221,343 10,707 - 232,050
Result
Operating profit 24,004 2631 26,725 (16) (3,526) 23,183
Share of profits In assoclated undertakings and joint ventures 96 4,374 4,470 186 4,656
Income from other fixed asset investments 26 - 26 261 1,217 1,504
Net finance Income/(expense) 484 48 532 {214) 318
Profit on ordinary actvities before taxation 24,700 7,053 31,753 217 (2,309) 29,661
Taxation on profit on ordinary actities {9,460}
Profit for the year from continuing operations 20,201
Other information
Segment assets™ 83,765 66,741 150,506 18,078 168,584
Irvestment In equity method associates 1,068 5,272 6,340 3,386 9,726
Consolidated total assets 178,310
Segment habilties (79,759) (26,324) (106,083) (6,685) (112,768)
Consolidated total labilibes (112,768)
Caprtal addtions™ 2,024 852 2,876 533 3,409
Depreciation 1,820 589 2,409 157 2,566

{1) Directors believe 1t 1s nat matenal or appropnate to abocate assets or capital addiions on a secondary segmental basis
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2 Segmental analysis continued
Year ended 30 Apnl 2005

UKand EMEA {ax LUK

Corporate
overheads  Consolidated

I e e T T I
Revenue
External Sales
Capital markets 34,355 16,451 50,806 315 51,121
Valuation 26,446 7100 33,546 662 34,208
Occupational and development markets 40,378 17,906 58,284 793 59,077
Professional services 27,169 4,670 31,839 995 32,834
Consulting and research 16,521 680 17,2014 - 17,201
Total external sales 144,869 46,807 191,676 2,765 - 194,441
Total Revenue 144,869 46,807 191,676 2,765 - 194,441
Resuft
Operating profit 21,850 161 22,111 (2,446} (2,939 16,726
Share of profits in associated undertakings and joint ventures {200) 2,600 2,400 1,151 3,551
Income from other fixed asset investments 37 - 37 256 300 593
Net finance expense (28) (110 {138) (129) (267)
Profit on ordinary actvities before taxation 21,759 2,651 24,410 (1,168) (2,639 20,603
Taxation on profit on erdinary actviies (7,782)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 12,821
Other information
Segment assets" 71,652 56,718 128,370 2,270 130,640
Investment in equrty method associates 1,141 4,385 5,526 3,143 8,669
Consolidated total assats 139,309
Segment habilities 69,8400 (21,913 (91,753 {2,170) (93,923)
Consolidated total liabilities (93,923)
Capital addtions™ 2,344 574 2,918 a7 3,015
Depreciation and imparment 1,995 530 2,525 620 3,145
(1) Dwectors believe It 1s not matenal or appropnate to alocate assets or capital addtions on a secondary segmental basis
3 Staff costs
2006 2005
£000 £000
Staff costs dunng the year
Wages, salanes and performance-related payments 118,746 98,002
Social secunty costs 17,465 14,736
Other pension costs 7,847 6,053
Share based payments 97 a1
144,155 118,832

During the year the Group employed an average of 2,398 staff (2005 2,118) including directers Of this number, 2,121 {2005 1,874)

were involved in the professional side of the Group's actvities and 277 (2005 244) were involved in central support functions At 30 April

2008, the Group employed 2,682 staff (2005 2,201)

Detals of the directors emoluments and share options required by the Comparnies Act 1985 are included in the Directors’

Remuneration Report, which forms part of these financial statements
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3 Staff costs continued
Key management compensation 2006 2005
£1000 £000
Key management
Remuneration 2,252 1,542
Fees to non-executive directors 208 179
Post employment benefits 925 804
Share-based payments 1 14
3,396 2,539

Key managerment are those persons having authorty and responsibility for planning, directing and controling the actwities of the entity
and include executive and non-executive directors and a member of senior management

4 Operating profit

2006 2005
£000 £000
Operating profit i1s stated after charging/(crediting)
L.oss/(profit) on disposal of tangible fixed assets 42 (112
Depreciation on tangible fixed assets
Owned assets 2,566 2,592
Rentals under operating leases
Land and buldings 9,146 8,368
Cthers 4,243 3,687
Audttors’ remuneration
Group audt fees — Delortte & Touche LLP 294 244
- Other firms 110 70
Company audit fees — Deloitte & Touche LLP 11 11
Tax and other service fees — Deloitte & Touche LLP 534 399
— Other fims 392 238

Tax and other service fees Includas adwisory work of £227 000 (2005 £176,000) and tax compliance and adwisory services of £307,000
(2005 £223,000)

5 Income from other fixed asset investments

2006 2005

£'000 £'000

Profit on sale of Investment in Investment Property Databank 809 -
Profit on sale of other investments 83 -
Dristributions from other fixed asset investments 612 593
1,504 593
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6 Finance income and expense

2006 2005

£000 £000

Bank interest recenable 726 250

Other interest recevable 314 158

Total finance ncome 1,040 408

Bank loans and overdrafts — interest payable (722) (675)

Total finance expense (722 (675)

Net finance income/(expense) 318 (267}
7 Taxation on profit from continuing operations

2006 2005

£000 £ 000

UK comporation tax at 30% (2005 30%;) based on the profit for the year (5450) {4,890)

Overseas taxation (4,329) (3.576)

Adjustment to pnor years' carporation tax - (24)

Double taxabon relief 984 468

(8,795) (8,022}

Deferred taxation - cnigination and reversal of timing differences (665) 240

(9460) (7,782

Factors affecting tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the penod 1s higher than that resulting from apphying the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30%
(2005 30%) The differences are explaned below

2006 2005
£000 £ 000
Profit on ordinary actvities before taxation 29,661 20,603
Tax at 30% thereon (8,898) {6,181)
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (747) {659)
Eftect of losses In overseas companies - {1,009
Double taxation relisf (185) 172
UK dmdend income 370 1
Goodwill iImparrment - {192)
Adustments to tax charge in respect of previous penods - (24)
Total tax charge for the year (9,460) (7,782}

The effective tax rate for the year 1s 31 89% {2005 37 77%)

Factors that may affect the future tax charge
The Group operates in countnes where the tax rate, on average, s significantly higher than the UK corporate rate tax of 30%

A deferred tax asset has not been recogmsed in respect of trming differences relating to all trading losses n overseas subsidianes as
there 1s nsufficient evidence that the asset will be recovered The amount of the asset not recognised 1s £3,700,000 (2005 £3,100,000)
The asset will be recovered if sufficient suitable profits are made in the future against which the asset could reverse

53 DTZ Holdings plc
Annual report and accounts 2006




Notes to the Accounts

7 Taxation on profit from continuing operations continued

Deferred tax
2006 2005
£4000 £000
Moverment on deferred taxation balance n the penod
Deferred tax asset
At 1 May 2005 7,491 6,786
{Charge)/credit to reserves (660) 870
Reduction in corporation tax iabiity {405) (405)
(Charge)/credtt to profit and loss account (665) 240
At 30 Apni 2006 5,761 7,481
Deferred tax lability
At 30 Apnl 2005 {93} -
Adoption of lAS32 and 39 {611) -
At 1 May 2005 {704) -
Revaluation of other nvestments 124 -
(Charge) to reserves - ©3)
Sale of other Investments 248 -
At 30 Apnl 2006 {334) 93)
Analysis of deferred tax balance
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation 95 95
Retirement benefit obligations 2,760 3,795
Shart-term tming differences 1,955 2,130
Overseas losses 951 1,471
Deferred tax asset 5,761 7.491
Revaluation reserve {241) -
Undistributed profits within equity accounted non-UK investments (93) 93)
Deferred tax hability {334) (93}

Deferred tax assets have been recogrised in respect of termporary differences and overseas losses, where it 1s probable that these

assats will be recovered

8 Results of the parent company

As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss of the parent company 1S not presented as part of these
accounts The parent company's profit for the financial year after taxation amounted to £4,896,000 (2005 £3,917,000)

9 Equity dvidends

2006 2008 2005 2005

Per share £'000 Per shae £000

Final 2005 (2004) 500p 2,475 425p 2,105
Intenm 2006 (2005) 275p 1,403 250p 1,233
3,878 3,338

Proposed final dvidend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2006 of 7 00 pence

The final dwdend in respect of 30 Apnl 2006 1s to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting on 7 September 2006 These financial

staterments do not reflect this dmidend payable
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10 Earmings per ordinary share

The basic earnings per ordinary share have been calculated using the weighted average number of shares in 1ssue of 50,075,472 for
the year to 30 Apnl 2006 (30 Apnl 2005 49,471,680}, and the profit for the financial year of £18,965,000 (2005 £12,245,000)

The diuted earrings per ordinary share are based on 50,931,173 shares (2005 49,967,016)

2006 2005
£000 £600

Profit for the financial year atinbutable to equity shareholders of the parent 18,965 12,245

Number Nurmber
Average number of shares in issue 50,075,472 49,471,680
Share options 855,701 495,336
Diluted average number of shares in 1ssue 50,931,173 49 967,016
Basic eamings per ordinary share 37.87p 24 75p
Diluted earnings per ordinary share 37.24p 24 51p
11 Intangible assets

T fwe o
Group
Cost
At 1 May 2004 - net book value on transtion 19,842 1,836 21,678
Foregn exchange translation differences 8 (1 7
Impaiment (553 - (553)
Acquisthon of subsidianes 9,614 - 9,614
At 30 Apnl 2005/1 May 2005 28,911 1,835 30,746
Foreign exchange tranglation differences 165 58 223
Acquisition of substdianes 7,413 - 7,413
At 30 Apnl 2006 36,489 1,803 38,382
Goodwill

Goocwill 15 not amortised but the Group tests goodwill annually for impairment with the recoverable amount being determined
from value In use calculations Value in use is determined through the analysis of discounted cash flow forecasts based on financial
forecasts approved by management which takes account of both past performance and expected future market developments
Management have used a pre-tax discount rate of 10 04%, equivalent to its weighted average cost of capital This has been
determined as reflecting current market assessments of the time value of money and nsks specific to the Industry and Company

Dunng the previous year, folowing the impainment review, a charge of £553,000 was recognised through the income staternent
The goodwill impainment resulted from a reduction in the estimated cash flows from a business in EMEA The Group considered

the amount to be immatenal and no other class of asset was imparred
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12 Property, plant and equipment

Fumnitura
Ieasﬂ Ieasaf?ollo; equlpma:g vemzlt; Total
£000 £'000 £1000 £000 £000
Group
Cost
At 1 May 2004 404 9,195 28,236 230 38,065
Acquired with subsiciary - 157 125 - 282
Additions - 1,255 1,746 14 3,015
Disposals (183}  (3,082) (17,894) (108 (21,287)
Foreign exchange translation differences - 2 7 (1) 4
At 30 Apnl 2005/1 May 2005 221 7523 12,220 135 20,099
Acquired with subsidiary - - 1,243 - 1,243
Transfer - - - 69 89
Additions - 996 2,403 10 3,409
Disposals - (287} {1,797) (106) (2,180
Foreign exchange translation differences - 13 117 2 132
At 30 Apnl 2006 221 8,245 14,186 110 22,762
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 May 2004 43) (6,874) (24,505 (172) (31,594}
Acqured with subsidiary - (116) (120) - (236)
Charge for year 3 8C9Yy (1,748 832 (2,592
Disposals 25 3,068 17,802 98 20,993
Foreign exchange translation differences - 1 6 1 8
At 30 Apni 2005/1 May 2005 21y (4730 (8565 (105) (13,421)
Acquired with subsidiary - - (1,108) - {1,108
Transfer - - - (69 69)
Charge for year (1 (208) (1,647} (10  (2,566)
Disposals - 219 1,680 99 2,008
Foreign exchange translation differences - - (87} {6} ©3)
At 30 April 2006 22) (5419 (9,717} ©91) (15,249}
Net book value
At 30 Apnl 2006 199 2,826 4,469 19 7,513
At 30 Apnl 2005 200 2,793 3.655 30 6,678
included in the net book values above are the following amounts relating to assets held under finance leases
Furniture
Long Short and Motor

e peos oo Ewo  £000
At 30 Apnl 2006 - - - - -
At 30 Apnl 2005 - - 5 8 13
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13 Investments in associates

Group Company
Share of Goodwill on m&am -
net assets of aoqubiﬁ?n oj’ . % subsidal:r:
undertakings undertakings undertakings companies
£'000 £'000 €000 £'000
Cost
At 1 May 2004 4,301 2,193 6,404 4,739
Addtions 768 1,075 1,843 10,775
Disposals (32) - (32} -
Exchange movements {1) - 1 -
At 30 Apnl 2005/1 May 2005 5,036 3,268 8304 15514
Addhions 74 146 220 16
Transfer from investments 11 - 11 -
Transfer to substdianes {4} - 4 -
Exchange movements 84 (12) 72 -
At 30 Apnl 2006 5,201 3,402 8,603 15,530
Share of retained profits/{osses) In associates
At 1 May 2004 (353) - (353} -
Movement in the year 3,812 - 3,812 -
Disposals (16) - {16} -
Dmdend receved {3,039 - {3,039} -
Exchange movements (39 - (39) -
At 30 Apnl 2005/1 May 2005 365 - 365 -
Movement in the year 3,811 - 3,811 -
Transfer to subsidianes 20 - 20 -
Dmdend receved (3,153} - (3,153 -
Exchange movements 80 - 80 -
At 30 Apni 2006 1,123 - 1,123 -
Net book value
At 30 Apnl 2006 6,324 3,402 9,726 15,530
At 30 Apnl 2005 5,401 3,268 8,669 15514

Details of pnncipal subsidianies and associated undertakings are given In note 26
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13 Investments in associates continued

Associates
The following information 1s given In respect of the Group's share of all associates
fo0 500
Assets 18,838 13,814
Liabilities (12,514 ({8,413
Revenue 32,536 25,875
Profit 4,684 3,996
14 Other investments - financial assets
Other investments
Group  Company
mvestmenta _ investments Toal  investment
£000 £000 £1000 £°000
Cost
At 1 May 2004 44 2,015 2,059 4
Additions - 1,730 1,730 -
Disposals {40} - (4C} -
Exchange movements - 15 15 -
At 30 Apnl 2005 4 3,760 3,764 4
Adoption of IAS32 and 39 - 2,037 2,037 -
At 1 May 2005 4 5,797 5,801 4
Revaluation dunng the year - 413) #13) -
Additrons - 218 218 -
Repaymeni of capital - {1,600) (1,800 -
Disposals 3 (836) (839) ()]
Trangfer to associate - (11) {(11) -
Transfer to subsidiary - (655) (B55) -
Exchange movements - 1 1 -
At 30 Apnl 2006 1 2,501 2,502 1
Provision
At 1 May 2004 - 312 312 -
At 30 Apnl 2005/1 May 2005 - 3812 312 -
Transfer to subsidiary - 255 255 -
At 30 Apnl 2006 - (57) 57 -
Net book value
At 30 Apn! 2006 1 2,444 2,445 1
At 30 Apnl 2005 4 3,448 3,452 4

1AS32 and 39 were adopted with effect from 1 May 2005

Investments are non interest bearng The directors consider that the carrying values of all nvestments approxmate their farr value

58 DTZ Holkiings ple
Annual report and accounts 2006




Notes ta the Accounts

14 Other investments continued

Additional investments

On 31 August 2005, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share caprtal of Grosvenor Hickey Tindale Pty Limited (‘'GHT), an
Australian specialist agency practice The consideration compnsed of an inibal cash payment of £1,942,000 and a deferred cash
consideration which, based on the future profits of GHT, 1s expected to amount to a maximum of £2,695,000

On 21 November 2005, the Group acquired 51% of the 1ssued share capital of Edmund Tie & Company Holdings Pte Limited {ETCH’),
& property advisory business in Singapore The consideration compnsed of an inhal cash payment of £1,314,000, and a deferred cash
congsderation of approximatety £1,204,000, payable in 2008

The far value of net assets acquired in the transactions, and the goodwill ansing, are as follows

GHT ETCH Total
£000 £000 £'000
Farr-value of net assets acquired
Property, plant and equipment 3 121 124
Deferred tax assets 35 - 35
Trade and other recevables 107 3,327 3,434
Cash and cash equivalents o 1,728 1,819
Trade and other payables (73) (2,961  (3,034)
Loans - {906) (906)
Deferred tax habiities - (2 {2)
Tax habities 2 (40) (38}
165 1,267 1,432
Minorty interest - 616} 616}
Goodwall 4,472 2,267 6,739
Total consideration 4,637 2918 7,555
Total consideration
Consideration satisfied by cash 1,042 1,314 3,256
Transfer from investments - 400 400
Deferred consideration owing at balance sheet date 2,695 1,204 3,899

4,637 2,918 7,555

Net cash outflow ansing from acquisition

Cash consideration paid (1,942) (1,314)  (3,258)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 91 1,728 1,819

{1,851) 414 (1,437)

Net cash outflow after accounting for purchase of

Remarrung interest in DTZ Italy {923}
Other nvestments (443)
Total (2,803

The additions have been accounted for using the purchase methed of accounting

The goodwall ansing on the acquisiticn of the above subsidianes 1s attributable to the anticipated future operating synergres from the
combination, and the anticipated profitabiity from the exposure of the Group's operations to new geographical markets

GHT contnbuted £1,025,000 to the Group’s profit before tax for the penod between the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date
Had the acquisition occurred on 1 May 2005, the estimated full year cortribution to the Group would have been revenue of
£1,880,000, and operating profit before tax of £880,000

ETCH contnbuted £1,382,000 to the Group's profit before tax for the period between the date of acquisition and the balance sheet
date Had the acquisition occurred on 1 May 2005, the estimated full year contnibution to the Group would have been revenue of
£8,196,000 and operating profit before tax of £2,462,000

In addion the Group acqutred minonty Interests in other subsidianes resulting in additional goodwil of £674,000
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15 Trade and other receivables

Growp Company
2006 2005 2008 2005
£'000 £000 £1000 £000

Non-current
Other 92 139 - -

Current

Fees recevable 62,409 47579 - -
Amounts owed by subsidianes - - 21,786 22144
Loans 1,130 766 - -
Other debtors 2,499 1,181 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 11,612 8,967 - -
77,650 58483 21,786 22,144

Trade and other recevables are non-interest beanng The directors consider that the carrying value approximates therr farr value

16 Bank loans

Group Compary
2006 2005 2008 2005
£'000 £1000 £000 £000
Current
Bank loans due within one year or on demand
Unsecured 750 1537 750 a37
Non-current
Bank loans
Unsecured 750 1,500 750 1,500
The matunty of non-current borrowings are as follows
Between cne and two years 750 750 750 750
Between two and five years - 750 - 750
750 1,500 750 1,500
The effective interest rate at the balance shest dates was as follows 06 2005
Bank loans 5.68% 557%
The directors consider that the camying value of bank loans approximates therr far value All bank loans are at floating rates
17 Trade and other payables
Group Company
2008 2006 2006 2005
£1000 £000 £1000 £000
Current
Obligations under finance leases - 12 - -
Cther loans - 339 - -
Other creditors - 128 281 1,947
Taxahon and social secunty 13,456 10,128 - -
Accruals and deferred income 71,169 54,427 - -
84,625 65,034 281 1,947
Non-current
Accruals and deferred ncome 4,740 5,298 - -

Trade and other payables, with the exception of finance leases, are nen-interest beanng The directors consider that the camying value

of all financial labilties approxmates ther far value
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18 Provisions
Accommodaton

Current P 000 g‘%
Group
At 1 May 2004 354 354
At 30 Apnl 2005/1 May 2005 354 354
Profit and loss charge 214 214
Transfer from non-current 723 723
Applied (368) {368)
At 30 April 2006 923 354

Share of net Accom-

liabiltbes of Deterred  modaton
Non-current ‘“m'“ém ms'wgﬁogg mugﬁ’ugno Jgg
Group
At 1 May 2004 - - 1,788 1,788
Investment in joint venture (73} - - 73
Defarred consideration on acquisition in year - 4,250 - 4,250
Profit and loss charge 445 - 352 797
Applied - - {475) {475)
At 30 Apnl 2005/1 May 2005 372 4,250 1,665 6,287
Deferred consideration on acguisitions In year - 3,899 - 3,899
Profit and loss charge/{credt) 28 - {101) (73)
Transfer to current - - (723) {723)
Applied ) - - (1)
At 30 Apnl 2006 399 8,149 841 9,389
Company
At 1 May 2004 - - - -
Deferred consideration - 4,250 - 4,250
At 30 Apnt 2005/1 May 2005 - 4,250 - 4,250
At 30 Apnl 2006 - 4,250 - 4,250

The opering deferred consideration balance relates to the acquisition of Hodnett Martin Smith Limited in the pnor year Current year
moverments relate to the deferred consideration associated with the acquisition of Grosvenor Hickey Tindale Pty Limited and Edmund
Tie & Company Limited (see note 14)

Accommodation provisions represent provisions for onerous leases, in accordance with the requirements of IAS 37 "Provisions,
contingent habilities and contingent assets

The share of the net llabilites in joint ventures anses from the start-up costs incurred by Buying Force Limited which commenced trading
last year
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19 Financial instruments

The Group utiises financial denvatives when required to crystallise exposures on certan transactions denominated in foreign curences

The Group has not entered into any financial denvative contracts dunng the current or preceding year

The riet amounit of monetary assets and liabiities and the camying value of financial iabilites at 30 Apnl 2005 and 30 Apnl 2006

denominated in currencies other than the functional cunencies of the operations INvolved were not significant

The Group's cash balances earn interest at rates linked to the base rate avalable
The total cash and cash equivalents held 1s as follows

Agril Aprk

2006 2005
Sterling 21,870,000 18,958,000
Euro 5,878,000 (2,950,000)
5% 2,281,000 -
Aust 1,102,000 174,000
us$ 524,000 733,000
Others 136,000 115,000

31,791,000 17,030,000

The farr values of the Group's financial assets and habilties, comprising investments, cash, bank loans, finance leases and other current

debtors and creditors are not matenally different from ther book values
Financial nsk management

The Group has formal financial nsk management policies which cover those financial nsks which are considered matenal to the Group’s

operations and results These policies and limits are reviewed annually and to ensure compliance, appropnate delegated authortiss have

been set together wath reporting procedures These policies nclude

» Foreign curmency nsk The Group publishes its results in stering but has a number of overseas businesses operatng n foreign

currencies The Group does not hedge the foreign exchange nsks ansing from the translation of overseas business results into stering

but wall, within mits agreed by the Board, hedge aganst committed transaction forergn currency exposures and the transtation

exposure of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities

« Interest rate nsk The Group's guideline 1s that no more than 50% of net Interest rate exposures on debt (net of any working capital
balances) should be at floating rates At 30 Apnl 2006 the Group had surplus funds of £30,291,000 net of borrowangs of £1,500,000

» Liquidity nsk The Group maintans a debt to capital ratio that has flexibility to allow 1t to meet its strategic objectves In addition,
policies have been set on borrowing levels to net cash requirements and covenants of financing sources to be used The Group's
requirements are reviewed annually, or more ofien If the need anses, and at 30 Apnl 2006 the Group, in additon to the surplus funds

referred to above, had committed facilities of £20,000,000

20 Called-up share capital

Number £000
Authonsed ordinary shares of 5 pence
At 1 May 2005 and 30 Apnl 2006 68,000,000 3,400
Allotted and full paid ordinary shares of & pence
At 1 May 2004 52,806,095 2,640
Shares 1ssued for cash in exchange for options exercised 205,450 10
Shares 1ssued in connection with acquistion of a subsidiary 114,102 6
At 30 Apnl 2005/1 May 2005 53,125,647 2,656
Shares issued for cash in exchange for options exercised 570,252 29
At 30 Apnl 2006 53,695,899 2,685

Total consideration for the shares issued n exchange for options exercised was £758,000 (2005 £206,000) Total consideration for

shares issued In connection with the acquistion of a subsidiary £nil (2005 £250,000)
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20 Called-up share capital continued

The DTZ Holdings plc Profit Shanng Scheme

The DTZ Holdings plc 1997 Profit Shanng Scheme {the Scheme) was adopted on 15 December 1997 following approval by the
shareholders at the AGM on 10 September 1997 and by the Inland Revenue The Scheme is operated at the discretion of the directors
who In any year decide, subject to Inland Revenue mits, the total amount of profit to be contnbuted by the Company and qualifying
subsidianes to the Trustes of the Scheme for the acquisiion of shares n the Company The shares are then appropnated to paricipating
employess on the basis that the employeas may be given at least one share for each share they purchase or prowide from their own
resources No such contnbution was made in the year to 30 Apnl 2006 (2005 nf}

The DTZ Holdings plc 1987 Executive Share Option Scheme
Under the DTZ Holdings pic Executve Share Option Scheme (the Scheme), certain executives of the Group companies held options at
30 Apnl 2006 over 5,000 ordinary shares as follows

Number Mumber

of shares of shares

Exercse 30 April 30 Apn

Gram date Qpion period proce 2008 2005

24 July 1895 24 July 1998 to 23 July 2005 59p - 1,500

1 August 1996 1 August 1999 to 31 July 2006 50p - 3,500

7 February 1997 7 February 2000 to 6 February 2007 76 5p 5,000 25,000

5,000 30,000

Reconciliation of option movements over the year to 30 Apnl 2006 1s shown below 2005

2008

Weightsd Waghtsd

Number average Nurmnber average

of shares exorcise price ot shares  exercise pnce

Qutstanding at 1 May 30,000 725 95450 16
Forfetted/expired - -

Exercised (25,000} 71.7 (65450 711

Qutstanding at 30 Apnl 5,000 765 30,000 725
Exercisable at 30 Apnl 5,000 30,000

Following the AGM on 10 Septernber 1997, the above Scheme was replaced by the DTZ Holdings plc 1997 Company Share Option
Plan and no further options will be granted under the Scheme
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20 Catled-up share capntal contnued
The DTZ Holdings plc 1897 Company Share Option Plan (the COSOP')

The purpose of the COSOP 1s to give certain executives and serior employees of the Group the opportunity to acquire shares in the
Company on favourable terms  Under the COSOPR, 1,372,021 options over ordinary shares are outstanding as at 30 Apnl 2006

Number Mumber

Bowa A 000
Grant date Option panod prca 2006 2005
1 July 1988 1 July 2001 o 30 June 2008 050 10,000 42,500
30 June 1999 30 June 2002 t0 29 June 2009 1265p 20,000 90,000
6 July 2000 6 July 2003 t0 5 July 2010 161 5p 50,000 150,000
31 July 2000 31 July 2003 to 30 July 2010 158p 10,000 10,000
17 January 2001 17 January 2004 to 16 January 2011 169p - 17,752
13 July 2001 13 July 2004 to 12 July 2011 1625p 60,000 220,000
18 July 2002 18 July 2005 to 17 July 2012 1085p 45,000 215,000
6 February 2003 6 February 2006 to 5 February 2013 52p - 10,000
11 July 2003 11 July 2006 to 10 July 2013 835p 418,000 460,500
23 January 2004 23 January 2007 to 22 January 2014 135p 6,125 28,347
16 July 2004 16 July 2007 to 15 July 2014 1655p 254,002 289,002
16 July 2004 16 Juty 2007 to 15 July 2011 1655p 10,998 10,998
28 January 2005 26 January 2008 to 25 January 2015 214 5p 13,986 13,986
7 July 2005 7 July 200810 6 July 2015 2285p 354,311 -
7 July 2005 7 July 2008to 6 July 2012 2285p 63,129 -
19 January 2006 19 January 2009 to 18 January 2016 468p 6,410 -
19 January 2006 19 January 2009 tc 18 January 2013 468p 50,000 -

1,372,021 1,558,085

Reconcilation of option movements over the year to 30 Apnl 2006 1s shown below

2006 2005

Weighted Werghtad

Nurnber average Number averaga

of shares exercise price of shares  exercise pnca

Cutstanding at 1 May 1,558,085 128.6 1,464,009 1184

Forfeted/expired (129,722) 141.7  (80,000) 1239

Exercised (545,252) 1358 (140,000) 1142

Granted 488,910 2570 323986 167 6

Qutstanding at 30 Apnl 1,372,021 171.4 1,558,085 1296
Exercisable at 30 Apnl 195,000 530,252

The exercise of share options under the COSOP 1s subject to performance targets aganst earnings per share

Fair value of options
Options for the DTZ Holdings ple 1997 Company Share Option Plan were valued at far value using the Black-Scholes model

The key assumptions used in the calculations were as follows

Risk free rate 3 8% - 5 0%pa depending on grant date and expected ife
Volatiity 28 7% - 32 3%pa depending on grant date

Performance critena  All vest after 3 years

The expected volatility 1s based on historical volatifity
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20 Called-up share capital continued
Far value of options at grant dates are
Grant dats

Far value ()

6 February 2003 43
11 July 2003 147
23 January 2004 2986
16 July 2004 391
28 January 2005 525
7 July 2005 521
19 January 2006 1340
21 Reconciliation of movement in equity

€000 £ 000 £ 000 £000 £000 £'000
Group
1 May 2004 2,640 15141 19,004 14 1,403 38,199
Shares issued for cash in exchange for options exercised 10 196 - - - 206
Shares ssued in connection with acquisition of a subsiciary 6 244 - - - 250
Owned equity shares - - (498} - - (498)
Employee share options - - - 41 - 4
Recognised income and expense - - 10,230 223 576 11,029
Equity dmdends paid - - (3,338} - - {3,338)
Didend pad to minonty interest - - - - {307) (307)
Movement 1n minonty interest - - - - {196) (196)
30 April 2005 2656 15581 25395 278 1,476 45,386
Revaluation of investments under 1AS32 and 39 - - - 1,426 - 1,426
1 May 2005 2656 15581 25395 1,704 1,476 46,812
Shares issued for cash in exchange for options exercised 29 729 - - - 758
Employes share options - - - a7 - 97
Recognised income and expense - - 20,505 271) 1,236 21,470
Equity dvidends paid - - (3.878) - - (3,878}
Dmidend paid to minonty interest - - - - (307) {307)
Movement in minonty interest - - - - 590 590
30 April 2006 2685 16310 42,022 1,530 2,995 65,542
Company
1 May 2004 2,640 15,141 4,769 - - 22550
Shares 1ssued for cash In exchange for options exercised 10 196 - - - 206
Shares 1ssued In connection with acquisthion of a subsidiary 6 244 - - - 250
Profit for the year - - 9917 - - 9,917
Equity dvidends paid - - {3338 - - (3,338
30 April 2005 2,656 15,581 11,348 - - 29,585
Shares 1ssued for cash in exchange for options exercised 29 729 - - - 758
Profit for the year - - 4,896 - - 4,896
Equity dmvidends paid - - (3,878) - - (3,878)
30 Apnil 2006 2,685 16,310 12,366 - - 31,361
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21 Reconciliation of movement in equity continued
Included in consolidated reserves is an amount of £21,407,000 (2005 £21,407,000) relabing to goodwill wntten off in respect of
continuing businesses There are no restnctions on distnbutions of reserves within subsidiary or associated undertakangs

Cther reserves include, revaluation reserves, forexgn curmrency translation reserves and share based payment reserves

22 Financial commitments

Group Company

2006 2005 2006 2005

£1000 £000 £000 £'000

Capital commitments contracted for but not provided in the financial statements - 17 - -

The Company, together with other companies within the Group, has given guarantees to the Group's bankers In respect of amounts
advanced to the Group under its banking facilites No losses are expected to anse with respect to these guarantees

23 Operating lease commitments

2008 2005

Land end Land and
buildings Other buldings Other
£'000 £7000 £'000 £000

Non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows

Within one year 9,015 3,630 8,255 2,774
Within two to five years 32,494 4,296 30,502 3,630
After five years 45438 - 48,876 -

Operating lease commitments for land and buldings represent the Group's total lease liability to the end of each of the leases Whilst a
number of the leases contain several break clauses, 1 1s not the Group's current intention to exercise these breaks, and therefore the full
cost, before minonty interests, has been disclosed

24 Retirement benefit obhgations

within the UK the Group operates two occcupational pension schemes, one of which (the DTZ 2002 Retrement Plan) provides benefits
based on final pensionable salary and is closed to new entrants, and the second being a defined contnbution scheme In addhion the
Group operates a personal pension plan open to emploveas not covered by the other two schemes The assets of all the pension
schemes are held separately from those of the Group Provision is also made for the capitalised value of future pensions payable to
certan former partners and widows of the Bermnard Thorpe partnership

Actuanal gans and losses are recognised in full In the penod in which they occur The Group has adopted the revised version of IAS19
(Employee Benefits) published n December 2004 As permitied by the revised standard, actuanal gains and losses are recognised
outside profit or loss and presented in the statement of recognised iIncome and expense The kabilty recognised in the balance sheet
represents the present value of the defined benefit obligaton, as reduced by the far value of assets The cost of providing benefits 1s
determined using the projected unit credit method

DTZ 2002 Retirement Plan

The results of the formal actuanal valuation as at 30 Apnl 2005 were updated to the accounting date by an independent qualfied
actuary in accordance with the IAS19 As required by 1AS19, the value of the defined benefit obligation and cunent service cost has
been measured using the projected unit credit method

The expected rate of return on assets for the financial year ending 30 Apnl 2006 was 6 4% pa (2004/05 6 7% pa) This rate 1S denved
by taking the weighted average of the long-term expected rate of return on each of the asset classes that the 2002 Plan was invested
in at 30 Apnt 2005

The amount of contnbutions paid to the 2002 Plan dunng 2005/06 was £0 8 million (2004/05 £6 3 milkon ncluding a special
contnbution of £5 4 miliion) and these are not expected to matenally change in 2006/07

The 2002 Ptan's benefits were amended from 1 Apnl 2006 and these changes have been reflected in our calculations accordingly
The changes only affect pension earned after 1 Apnl 2006

The following table sets out the key IAS19 assumptions used

Assumptions 30 Aprll 2006 30 Aprd 2005 30 Apd 2004
Retal Price inflation 30%pa 28%pa 30%pa
Discount rate 52%pa 53%pa 57%pa
Pension increases in payment

5% or inflation 30%pa 26%pa 28%pa

2%% or inflation 22%pa 22%pa n/a
General salary increases 30%pa 28%pa 30%pa
Life expectancy of male aged 60 at balance sheet date 26.6years 26 5years 24 3 years
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24 Retirement henefit obligatons continued
The amount included in the balance sheet ansing from the Group obligations in respect of the 2002 Plan s as follows

2002 Pan

30 April 2006 30 Apd 2005 30 Aprd 2004

om om £m

Present value of defined benefit obligation 494 439 379
Far value of assets (43.5) (359 (27 7)
Liability recognised in the balance sheet 59 80 102

In addition the amount ncluded in the balance sheet ansing from the Group's obligatrons in respect of the capitalised value of future
pensions payable to certain former partners and widows of the Bernard Thorpe partnership (“Bernard Tharpe Annuitants™) 1s as follows

Bamard Thorpe Annuitants
30 April 2006 30 Aprl 2005 30 Aprl 2004
fm £m £m

Present value of defined benefit cbiigation 3.1 30 30
Far value of assets - - -
biability recogrised in the balance shest 3.1 30 30

The amounts recogrused In profit or loss are as follows
2002 Plan Bernard Thorpe Annurtants

2006/08 2004/05 200506 2004/05

£m £m £m £m

Emplover's part of cuent service cost 08 08 - -
Interest cost 23 22 0.2 02
Expected return on assets {2.3) (19 - -
TJotal expense Included In profit or loss 0.8 11 0.2 02

A reconciiation of the present value of the defined benefit abligation 1s as follows
2002 Plan  Bernard Thorpe Annurtants

2005/06 2004/05 2005/06 200405

£m £m fm £m

Opening defined benefit obligation 43.9 379 3.0 30
Employer's part of current service cost 0.8 08 - -
Interest cost 23 22 02 02
Contnbutions from members 0.1 01 - -
Actuanal losses 3.5 37 01 01

Benefits pad (1.2} {08 02 03
Closing defined benefit obligation 49.4 439 3.1 30

A reconcihation of the farr value of the assets i1s as follows
2002 Plan  Bernard Thorpe Annuitants

2005/08 200405 2005/06 2004/05

£m £m £m em
Opening farr value of the assets 35.9 277 - -
Expected return on assets 2.3 19 - -
Actuanal gans . 5.7 08 - -
Coentnbutions by the employer 0.7 62 - -
Contnbutions by members 0.1 01 - -
Benefits pad (1.2) {08) - -
Closing farr value of assets 435 359 - -

The amount recognised outside profit or loss in the statement of recogrised income and expense for 2005/06 for the 2002 Planis a
gan of £2 2 milllon (2004/05 loss of £2 9 millor) This is the sum of actuanal gains and losses on the defined benefit obligation and
the assets The figure for the Bernard Thorpe annuitants is a loss of £0 1 million (2004/05 loss of £0 1 million)

The actual return on the 2002 Plan's assets over the year was £8 0 million {2004/05 £2 7 million)
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24 Retirement benefit obhgatons continued
The current allocation of the 2002 Plan's assets 1s as follows

30 April 2006 30 Apd 2006 30 April 2004

Equity nstruments 59% 61% 62%

Debt instruments 41% 39% 38%

100% 100% 100%

2002 Plan
30 Apeil 2006 30 Apl 2005 30 Apnl 2004

£m £m £m

Prasent value of defined benefit obligaton 49.4 439 379
Far value of assets (43.5) 359 277
Deficit 59 80 102
Bernard Thorpa Annuitants

30 Apnl 2006 30 Apnl 2005 30 Apnf 2004
£m £m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligation 3.1 30 30
Far value of assets - - -
Deficit 3.1 30 30

2002 Ptan  Bernard Thorpe Annurtants

2005/06 2004/05 2006/06 2004105
£m £m om jag]
Experence adjustments on assets
Amount of gain (5.7 {08} - -
Percentage of assets (13%) (2%) - -
Experience adustments on labilities
Amount of gain - 03 - {@1)
Percentage of the present value of the liabilities - (1%) - (39%)

In addition to the UK defined benefit scherme, the Group makes defined contributions to both UK and overseas company and statutory
pension schemes Total pension contnbutions to defined contnbution schemes were £7,047,000 (2005 £5,153,000)

25 Explanation of the transition to IFRS
30 Apni 2006 1s the first year that the Group has presented its financial statements under IFRS The last financial statements presented
under UK GAAP were for the year ended 30 Apnl 2005 The date of transihon for the Group 1s 1 May 2004

IFRS 1 ‘First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’ permits a number of optional exemptions to the prnciple that
the Group's opening IFRS balance sheet shall comply with each IFRS The Group has taken the following key exemptions at transition

a) Business combinations IFRS3
Acquisitions prior to the transition date have not been restated

b) Employee benefits IAS19
All cumulative actuarial gains and losses have been fully recognised in equity at the date of transition Pension llabiliies are recognised
on the balance sheet

¢) Cumulative translation differences 1AS21

Translabon differences relating to forergn currency investments N overseas operations in existence at the date of transition are deemed
to be zero

d) Goodwill

The requirement to retranslate goodwill balances ansing on the acquistion of a foreign operation at the closing exchange rate In
accordance with 14521 ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates has been applied prospectively to goodwill balances ansing
on acquisthions after 1 May 2004
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25 Explanation of the transibion to IFRS continued

€} Financial Instrurnents (IAS32 and 1AS39)

IAS32 ‘Financial Instruments disclosure and presentation’ and IAS 38 'Financial Instruments recogniion and measurement’ has been
applied prospectvely from 1 May 2005 Conseguently the restated balances for the year to Apnl 2005 within these accounts do not
reflect the Impact of these standards, as permitted by IFRS1, UK GAAP has been applied to the financial statements in that year

Reconciliation of equity at 1 May 2004 and 30 April 2005 and profit for the year ended 30 Apnl 2005 reported under UK GAAP and
IFRS are shown below Further details of the reconciliations of equity at 30 Apnl 2005 and the profit for the year then ended have been
previously published on our website, www dtz com

IFRS1 requires an explanation of major adjustments to the consolidated and company cash flows under IFRS Whilst the format of the
consolidated and company cash flow statement i1s different from UK GAAP, there are no matenal changes to the consclidated and
company cash flows from operations, Investment or financing

i) Reconciliation of Equity Shareholders’ Funds under UK GAAP and IFRS
30 ApA 2005 1 May 2004

£000 £000
UK GAAP — equity shareholders funds 54,773 48,355
Exclusion of dwdend a 2475 2,105
Employee benefits b {1,222) {1,069
Tenant Inducements o} {4,739} (4,968}
Goodwill amortisahon d 2,440 -
Deferred tax e a7 (87)
Empioyee benefits — retrement benefit obligations f (9,800) (7.560)
IFRS - equity attnbutable to shareholders of the parent 43910 36,796

The reasons for the adjustments shown in the reconciiatton between UK GAAPR and IFRS ars set out below

a) Under IFRS unapproved dividends are not provided for Accordingly, the UK GAAP figure has Increased to reflect the exclusion of the
proposed final dvdends

b} This 1s the estimated value of the unused entitlemnent tc holiday pay which was outstanding at the balance sheet date These figures
are net of the appropnate prowvision for deferred tax

c) This 1s the net effect of spreading lease ncentives, both given and recerved, over the Iife of the lease These had been previously
spread to the first rent review

d) The financial statements for the year to 30 Apnl 2005 contained a goodwill charge of £3,027.000 Of this amount, amortisation in the
sum of £2,475,000 {ess a tax deduction of £35,000), which had previously been charged to the profit and loss account, has been
reversed through the income statement in line with IAS 36 The balance of £5652,000 has been treated as an imparment

€) A deferred tax asset 1s calculated on the market value of share options at the balance sheet date May 2004 £20,000, Apnl 2005
£76,000) A deferred tax hability 1s calculated on undistnbuted profits within equity accounted non-UK investments (May 2004
£87,000, Apnl 2005 £93,000)

f) The imitial defict (net of deferred tax) which totalled £7,560,000 is introduced on to the balance sheet as at 1 May 2004
As at 30 Aprl 2006 this has increased by £2,030,000 (net of deferred tax) which represents the actuanal gains and losses on the
defined benefit scheme obligations and assets This is charged direct to the statement of recognised mcome and expenditure
Pension costs of £210,000 (net of deferred tax) have been charged to the mcome statement This represents interest costs within
the plan less the expected retum on plan assets
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25 Explanation of the transrion to IFRS continued

i) Reconciiaton of profit for the year under UK GAAP and IFRS
30 Apnl 2005

£000
UK GAAP — profit after tax 10,521

Share-based payments g (@1)
Employee benefits h (153}
Tenants inducernents I 229
Geoodwill amortisation ] 2,440
Deferred tax k 35
Employee benefits | 210)
IFRS 12,821

The reasons for the adjustments shown in the reconciliation between UK GAAP and IFRS are set out below

@) This 1s the charge to the income statement, with a corresponding credit to equity, of the far value of those share options, granted
after 22 November 2002, that will vest in the future

h) This 1s the adjustment to the unused holiday pay prowvision for the year The charge to the income statement amounted to £218,000,
less a deferred tax credit of £65,000

I} Acredit of £229,000 arose from the net effect of spreading lease inducements, given and receved, over the Iife of the leases concemed

I} The financial statements for the year to 30 Apnl 2005 contained a goodwill charge of £3,027,000 Of this amount, amortisation in the
sum of £2,475,000 {less a tax deduction of £35,000), which had previously been charged to the profit and loss account, has been
reversed through the income statement in ine with IAS36 The balance of £552,000 has been treated as an impairment

k) A deferred tax asset I1s calculated on the market value of share options at the balance sheet date This gave nse to a deferred tax
credit for the year of £41,000 Deferred tax on undistnbuted profits within equity accounted non-UK investments gave nse to a habilty
of £6,000

i} Pension costs of £300,000, less a deferred tax deducticn of £90,000, have been charged to the mcome statement This represents
interest costs within the plan less the expected return on the plan assets

ni} Explanation of the Company transition to IFRS
Reconciiation of Equity Shareholders funds under UK GAAP and IFRS

30 Aprl 1 May
2006 2004
£000 £000

UK GAAP 27,111 20,446

Exclusion of chividend m 2,474 2,104

IFRS 29,585 22,550

m) Under (FRS unapproved dvidends are not prowided for Accordingly the UK GAAP figure has increased to reflect the exclusion of
the proposed final dividend In respect of profit, there are no differences, as the amounts disclosed i note 8 are stated before
dwvidend payments
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26 Additional information on principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated undertakings

Nature of business (otdi;E"nn:yy srhegag Pnncpg m&
Pnncipal subsidianes
Incorporated in Great Britain
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited Property advisers 100" UK
D7Z Pieda Consulting Limited Consultancy 100" Europe
DTZ International Lirmited Holding company 100 Europe
Incorporated in France
Financiere DTZ Jean Thouard SA Property advisers 100 France
Incorporated in Germany
DTZ Zadelhoif Holding GmbH Property acdwvisers 100 Germany
Incorporated in the Netherlands
DTZ Central and Eastern Europe BV Property advisers 100 Eastern Europe
Fronton BV Property advisers 100 The Netherands
Zadelhoff Participaties BV Property advisers 70 The Netherlands
Incorporated in ltaly
DTZ kala Spa Property advisers 100 Italy
Incomporated in Belgium
DTZ Belux Group SA Property adwvisers 100  Belgium and Luxembourg
Incorporated in Spain
DTZ Ibenca Asesores immobilianos Internacionales SA  Property advisers 100 Spain
Incorporated in Austna
DTZ Austna GmbH Property advisers 86 Austna
Incorporated n Australia
DTZ Australia {Vic) Pty Limited Property advisers 100 Australia
DTZ Australia (NSW) Pty Limited Property adwvisers 100 Austraha
Incorporated 1n the Bntish Virgin Islands
EuroAsia Properties Limited Property advisers 70 Japan
Incorporated in Singapore
Edmund Tie & Company Holdings Pte Ltd Property advisers 51 Singapore
Incorporated in India
DOTZ International Property Advisers Private Limited Property advisers 100 India
Incorporated n USA
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Inc Property advisers 100 USA
Incorporated in Bzhrain
DTZ Bahran WLL Property advisers 100 Bahran
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26 Additional infermation on pnncipal subsidianes, joint ventures and associated undertakings continued

Nature of business (orSFnl;ryﬂy Qr?‘adrezi anpg gglernaTgns
Jomt ventures
Incorporated In Great Britain
Buying Force Limited Service procurement 50 UK
Associated undertakings
Incorporated in the Republic of Ireland
DTZ Sherry FitzGerald Limited Property adwvisers 20™ Republic of Ireland
Incorporated in Australia
OTZ Australia (WA) Pty Limited Property advisers 200 Australia
Incorporated in the Bntish Virgin Islands
DTZ Pacific Heldings Limited Holding companies 30 Haong Kong and China
Incorporated in Hong Kong
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited Property advisers 0+ Hong Kong
Incorporated in New Zealand
DTZ New Zealand Limited Property advisers 25" New Zealand
Incorporated in Sweden
DTZ Sweden AB Property advisers 30 Sweden
Incorporated in Qatar
DTZ Qatar WLL Property advisers 40 Qatar

“Owned by parent **Year end 31 December ™*Year end 30 June

The above information includes the pnncipal subsidianes of the Group  All the UK Group subsidianes will submit annual returns to the
Registrar of Companies as required by the Companies Act 1985

27 Related party transactions

The Group provided advisory services on an arms length basis for total fees of £775,000 to companies on which two Board Members
st as non-executive drrectors A subsidiary comypany leases, on an amms fength basts, an office at the annual rent of €193,000, from a
company controlled by one of the subsidianes Executve Directors

The Group had outstanding loans to certain joint venture and associated companies in the sum of £1,700,000 as at 30 Apnl 2006
All of these loans are on commercial terms

28 Share pnce
The mid-market price of the shares at 1 May 2005 and 30 Apnl 2006 was 199 5 pence and 643 0 pence respectively The share price
dunng the year ranged from 189 0 pence to 680 0 pence

29 Events occurmnng after the end of the year

On 10 May 20086, DTZ Holdings plc (‘DTZ") acquired a 50% interest in Rockwood Realty Associates LLC (“Rockwood”)
Rockwood i1s a privately owned North Amencan real estate capital consultancy, headguartered in New York DTZ have pad an
intial consideration of US$ 45,000,000 (£24,200,000), satsfied by the payment of US$ 36,375,000 (£19,600,000} in cash, and
through an issuance of 743,000 shares (£4,600,000)

DTZ will also make a deferred payment to Rockwood's members of up to US$ 3,500,000 {£1,900,000) worth of shares dependent
on EBITDA in the year ending February 2007 With a final deferred payment three years from the closing of the transaction calculated
as two times average EBITDA for the penod ending February 20089 The deferred consideration is subject to an overall cap of

US$ 75,000,000 (£40,300,000)

The directors believe it 1s not practical to disclose the farr value of acquired assets as they had not been finalised at the date of
preparation of these accounts
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Five Year Record

Years ended 30 Apri

The additional information consisting of the five year record, the shareholder analysis and financial calendar has been prepared from the
accounting records of the Company Whilst t does not form part of the statutory financial statements, it should be read in conjunction
with them and the responsibilies section of the Auditors’ Report thereon

UK GAAP IFRS
2002 2008 2004 2005 2006
£000 £1000 £000 £000 £'000
Tumover 152,687 153,717 166,255 194,441 232,050
Operating profit 11,028 8,565 8,910 16,726 23,183
Profit on ordinary actmtes before taxaton® 12,711 9,067 11,024 20603 28,852
Profit on ordinary actvities after taxation® 7,630 4579 5,676 12,821 19,392
Basic earnings per ordinary share* 14 0p 86p 108p 2475p 36.26p
Dividends per ordinary share {net)
Interim 225p 225p 225p 250p 275p
Final 4 00p 400p 425p 500p 7.00p"
Year end share price 124 5p 675p 1615p 1995p  643.0p
Total assets 100,214 101,595 108,680 139,309 178,310
Net assets 45372 46,476 48,355 45386 65,542
Earmings before interest, taxation, depreciation and
amortisation ((EBITDA")" 17,227 14,344 16,999 24,015 31,100
Analysis of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)
2003 2004 2005 2008
£ 000 £1000 £000 £ 000 £000
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 12,711 9,067 11,024 20,603 28,852
Net finance {(ncome)/expense 49 238 198 267 {318}
Depreciabon and impanment 4,467 5,039 5777 3,145 2,566
EBIMTDA 17,227 14344 16998 24015 31,100

The figures above have been extracted from the audited financial statements of those years

“All arg stated befors exceptonal tems

*To be pad on 15 September 2006, If approved at the AGM on 7 September 2006, 1o the shareholders on the register at the dose of business on 18 August 2006
The ex-divden date 1s 16 August 2008
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Shareholder Analysis

As at 30 Apnl 2006
Number of Balance as at

Shareholders by size holdings % 30 April 2008 %
1-500 1,183 5038 260,432 048
501~1,000 252 1073 204,605 038
1,001-5,000 483 2057 1,237,893 23
5,001-10,000 132 562 963,365 179
10,001-50,000 157 669 3,816,219 71
50,001-100,000 57 243 4,164,611 776
100,001-500,000 65 277 13,953,561 2599
500,001-1,000,000 10 043 7,407,085 1379
1,000,001 and over 9 038 21,688,118 40 39
Total 2,348 100.00 53,695,809 100.00
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Financial Calendar

Annual General Meeting

Thursday 7 September 2006 — 11 00 am at One Curzon Street, London W1A 5PZ

Results

To 31 October 2005 - Announced 18 January 2006

To 30 Apnl 2006 - Announced 4 July 2006

Dwidends

Intenm 2 75 pence per share

Paid 17 February 2006

Final 7 00 pence per share

Proposed 4 July 2006

Payable 15 September 2006
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